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Monday, July 16, 2012

--- On commencing at 9:38 a.m.

MS. HARE:  Good morning.  Please be seated.

I understand we have some preliminary issues.  Maybe we will start first with the schedule, Mr. Smith.

Preliminary Matters:


MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Madam Chair, members of the Board.  You should have in front of you a revised schedule.  And what you will see reflected there is what we contemplated last week, that once gas supply wraps up today, we will move to cost of capital, followed by the ex-franchise revenue panel, with the various panels following thereafter.

Two observations.  First, with respect to the panel composition and the ex-franchise panel, in particular, you will have obviously realized that we have given a number of undertakings with respect to gas supply matters thus far.

We have added Mr. Shorts to the gas -- to the revenue ex-franchise panel just to make sure that there is no confusion and that we have witnesses available to answer questions.  And obviously we'll work as hard as we can to make sure that we have undertakings from the gas supply panel available by the time the ex-franchise panel comes up.  So we're hard at work at that.

On the argument schedule, unfortunately we've reverted to the days we had originally proposed, given that we're a little bit behind.  Obviously this is a work in process and we will see where we are.

MS. HARE:  Okay, that's fine.  I can tell you now, because Union argument will be oral --


MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MS. HARE:  -- that August 3rd does not work.  August 2nd would work --


MR. SMITH:  That's fine.

MS. HARE:  -- the following week, but if we can plan on August 2nd, that would be preferred.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, I can definitely make August 2nd work, assuming we wrap on the 27th.

MS. HARE:  Again, we will see how it goes.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, thank you.

MS. HARE:  Do you have any other preliminary matters, Mr. Smith?

MR. SMITH:  I do not.

MS. HARE:  I understand, Mr. Shepherd, you have something to raise?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, Madam Chair.  I am advised by my friend, Mr. Smith, that Union still intends to lead Mr. Vander Weide -- is that right?

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Vander Weide.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- Mr. Vander Weide as a witness with respect to equity thickness in the cost of capital panel.  And my client objects to that, because he did not provide written evidence on equity thickness.  If I could make a submission on that, I would appreciate it.

MS. HARE:  Yes, please.
Submissions by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  The evidence of Mr. Vander Weide was put in F2, which is on ROE.  That is the section of the evidence on ROE.

And, in fact, I didn't even read it initially, because what Union was asking for was the Board's formula.  We were already happy with that, and so I wasn't really interested in what they had to say about ROE.

We were going to agree to what they asked for, anyway.  And we asked no IRs on it.

Further, I knew that the purpose of the evidence was ROE, and, in fact, if you go to the evidence -- I'll read it to you.  You don't need to turn it up if you don't want to.  On page 5 of the evidence, it's a question and answer format.  On page 5 of the evidence, it says:
"What is the purpose of your written evidence in this proceeding?"


And the answer is:
"I have been asked by Union Gas Limited ... to prepare an independent appraisal of the reasonableness of the Company's requested return on equity ... in this proceeding."


So it is clear this is evidence about ROE.  ROE is a settled issue, and, therefore, Mr. Vander Weide's evidence on ROE is no longer necessary, and it would be inappropriate for Union to lead it, because it is already settled.  In fact, we gave them what they wanted, so they can hardly complain.

The evidence does allude to equity ratios, which is equity thickness.  After the normal discussion about CAPM and DCF and all of those sorts of things with respect to ROE, at the very end, the evidence, in one page, provides a list of equity ratios.

It's under a heading entitled "Allowed ROEs and Equity Ratios for comparable Risk Utilities", and they present a table.  And the conclusion in that one page of material - there's no analysis of risk or anything like that; it is just, Here's a table - is that this is further evidence that ROE and equity ratio requested by Union are reasonable.  There is no analysis of the equity ratio at all.

So as I said, I didn't ask any IRs.  My friend, Mr. Thompson, was quicker off the mark than I was and did ask an IR related to this, and his IR said, "Please clarify the purpose" -- the reference is J.E-3-14-1.  The question is:
"Please clarify the purpose of Dr. Vander Weide's evidence in this proceeding having regard to Union's proposal that the Board's ROE formula is to be applied in determining its 2013 Rates...

Et cetera, et cetera.  And the answer is:
"As stated at pg. 5 of Exhibit F2, Dr. Vander Weide was asked to prepare an independent appraisal of the reasonableness of the ROE requested by Union in this proceeding in the context of Union's proposal to increase its equity level to 40%."


In our submission, this expert has not provided expert evidence on equity thickness, and the rules of this Board are fairly clear.  You can't bring an expert to an oral hearing who hasn't provided written evidence and made himself available for discovery on that evidence.

So Dr. Vander Weide has provided evidence on ROE.  He's been discovered on it.  Everything is fine.  But on equity thickness, he provided a table, only, that is not part of the purpose of his evidence.  It was only context, and when asked about it, the applicant said, This is only context.

So he has therefore not provided this Board with any evidence on equity thickness that was capable of being discovered.  It was not discovered.  And, as a result, he's now prohibited from appearing on that issue.  Those are our submissions.

MS. HARE:  Do other parties have submissions on this issue before we turn to Mr. Smith?
Submissions by Mr. Thompson:


MR. THOMPSON:  My only submission is I agree with Mr. Shepherd.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Quinn?  No comments?  Mr. Brett?
Submissions by Mr. Brett:

MR. BRETT:  Yes.  I would also like to say, as Mr. Thompson did, that I am in total agreement with Mr. Shepherd on this.  I think it's -- I think this is out of order.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. MacIntosh, Mr. Aiken, do you have anything to add?

Okay.  Mr. Smith, then, do you have comments?
Submissions by Mr. Smith:

MR. SMITH:  Thank you, members of the Board.  I do have a response.

First, by way of overview, I mean, in the normal course, when an expert's ability to testify is challenged, that is done after a voir dire cross-examination on the expert's credentials and an analysis of what the expert typically looks at.

Now, my friends elected not to do that, so he has not actually -- other than his submission, not asked any questions of Dr. Vander Weide as it relates to how his assessment on equity ratios was actually developed.

But I'm prepared to deal with the objection right now.  In my submission, the premise of my friend's submission that Dr. Vander Weide's evidence does not address the question of the appropriate equity thickness and the reasonableness of Union's request and it is limited to ROE is demonstrably wrong.

And I say that for three specific reasons.  First, on the face of the evidence, Dr. Vander Weide's evidence discusses the reasonableness of Union's request to increase its equity thickness in line with other Ontario utilities to 40 percent.

Second, parties did have an opportunity to conduct discovery in respect of that evidence, and, while SEC chose not to avail itself of that opportunity, others did.

And, third, Dr. Booth's evidence responds directly to Dr. Vander Weide's evidence on the point.  He discusses US and Canadian comparator utilities, the subject of Dr. Vander Weide's evidence.  So there was certainly no confusion in Dr. Booth's mind as to what it was that he was addressing.

Now, I say by way of opening comment, there is no doubt as to Dr. Vander Weide's qualification to provide evidence as to the appropriate equity thickness.  If you have his evidence at Exhibit F2, his curriculum vitae is set out at page 54 of his evidence.  And I should apologize.  Mr. Buonaguro is not here today, so the pace with which materials are being brought up in front of you may be somewhat slower than in the past, but his CV is set out at page 54.

He is an academic, a research professor of finance and economics at Duke University.  He holds a Ph.D. in finance from Northwestern University.  He has been both -- he has been a full professor, assistant professor, associate professor and a research professor.  He has testified over 400 times on economic and finance issues, including numerous times before regulatory panels, including this Board.

So his qualifications, themselves, to offer opinion evidence cannot seriously be in dispute.

Now, returning to my first primary submission, Dr. Vander Weide did opine on equity thickness in Union's request and they are on the face of his evidence.

So if I can ask you to turn up his evidence, which is something my friend did not ask you to do...

MS. HARE:  Sorry, could you give me the reference again, please?

MR. SMITH:  F2, and if you turn to page 5.

Now, my friend began his submission and limited his submission -- limited his submission to question 4 and question 5, which does comment on the ROE formula, but it continues on an equity ratio equal to 40 percent.

But if you look over at question 9, which is, in my submission, highly important, Dr. Vander Weide was asked:

"How will you assess the reasonableness of Union's request to earn the Board's formula ROE on a capital structure containing 40 percent equity?"

And he answered that question by saying that he will:

"...estimate the cost of equity for groups of comparable risk utilities..."

And that's important; we will come back to it.
"...examine information on average utility actual and allowed capital structures..."

So he is going to look at capital structure.

Compare his:
"...cost of equity estimates and information on average utility capital structure to Union's cost of equity and capital structure in this proceeding."

So he's looking, as he says right at the outset, both at the ROE and at capital structure as part of his analysis.  And obviously our intention is to call him with respect to his analysis as it relates to capital structure.

Dr. Vander Weide's evidence continues over in section 2 with a discussion of comparable risk utilities.  And this begins on page 7.  And this, again, is highly relevant, because what is engaged in this portion of his analysis is an assessment of the comparability of US and Canadian utilities.  And so if you look over at question 23 on page 9, he is asked:
 "Is there a significant difference in the business risk of Canadian and US utilities?"

And then he goes through a discussion of that, and this is important, because we will come back to it when we look at Dr. Booth's evidence.

Answer, he says no.  Obviously there will be some cross-examination about that, and his discussion continues.

Over the next page, question 26 -- actually beginning at question 25, whether or not Canadian utilities have lower regulatory risk than US utilities, and he goes through an analysis of that and he concludes no.  We will hear the converse in a minute.

Question 27 on page 11, he is asked:

"What is the difference between business and financial risk?"

And then goes down the page on page 11 to talk about the comparability of the financial risk faced by US and Canadian utilities.

If you then continue, members of the Board, later on in his report Dr. Vander Weide takes his assessment of comparability and directly translates that in his discussion of capital structure.

So beginning at question 79, which is under the heading "Allowed ROEs and equity ratios for comparable risk utilities," so this portion builds on his discussion before of comparability, business, regulatory, financial risk.  And if you look at question 80 -- perhaps the best place to look is over at question 82, "you note", on page 28:

"You note that Union is recommending a common equity ratio equal to 40 percent.  How do the approved equity ratios for US utilities compare to Union's requested equity ratio?"

And he goes through his assessment.  So it is a direct comparison, and he is providing an opinion on the subject.

He continues at question 83:

"How does Union's requested equity ratio compare?"

And he goes through his assessment.

Then he goes down to question 84:

"How does Union's requested equity ratio compare to the market value ratios for your comparable group of US utilities?"

Which was determined having regard to the comparability assessment that he made earlier.

Continues over at questions 85 and 86, and then he reaches his summary and conclusions.  The very first question:

"Please summarize your written evidence in this proceeding.

"My written evidence may be summarized as follows:  I assessed the reasonableness of Union's request to earn the Board's formula ROE on a 40 percent equity ratio by examining evidence on the required rate of return on equity and capital structure for several groups of comparable risk utilities."

He then goes down, at 87, 4, 5 and 6 to again discuss equity ratio, and his conclusions over at question 88, same submission.

And then if you look -- and it is cross-referenced -- at appendix 8 and 9, or Exhibits 8 and 9, that is where you will see Dr. Vander Weide sets out specific information in respect of the allowed returns on equity and equity ratios for US natural gas utilities and then US electric utilities.

So in my submission, on the face of his evidence, which I understand from my friend he did not review at first instance, but the face of the evidence, it is apparent that he addresses the subject of capital structure.

Second submission, it is equally true that parties had an opportunity to ask IRs.  Now, there is no question anybody could have asked an IR in relation to any portion of Dr. Vander Weide's evidence.  SEC didn't, but some other parties did, in particular CME, who, other than saying -- I agree today is not leading the charge on this point, I might observe.

So at J.E-3-12-1, the question of the comparability of the US sample group -- which was the subject of Dr. Vander Weide's evidence that we've talked about -- is directly engaged by the interrogatory from CME, and there is a lengthy discussion of that and why Dr. Vander Weide believes it is comparable.

Indeed, if you look over at parts b) and c) of page 2 of 2, he directly responds to the suggestion that US utilities cannot be a valid reference point, and at c) he discusses his understanding of potential risk differences between Canadian and US utilities, as I have reviewed.

Equally, if you look over at 3-12-5, there's a further discussion in answer to a CME interrogatory about the average equity ratios referred to in his report for both Canadian and US utilities, with specific reference to the various portions of his report that I have taken you to this morning.

So parties had an opportunity and parties availed themselves of that opportunity, so there is no question of fairness.

The final point, third submission, is Dr. Booth's evidence.  Dr. Booth's evidence, which can be found in the K binder, and which was submitted under cover letter from the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition, Mr. Janigan, but was also submitted on behalf of a number of intervenors including the School Energy Coalition, if you have a look at that evidence beginning at page 68 -- we needn't spend too much time on this, but beginning at page 68 you will see the question that is engaged under the heading at line 13, the very issue that I have raised, which is the comparability of US utilities is engaged by Dr. Booth, who says, in answer to a question - I assume that is "don't" - or "Do US comparators justify 40% common equity?"

And then he goes into a discussion of reflecting his view that they don't, but the topic itself is directly engaged.  And then at line 20, "Why do you regard the US as riskier than Canada?"  And he offers his opinion there.  No question of fairness or inability to respond.

And then over at page 70, question, "Is it commonly accepted that US utilities are riskier than Canadian ones?"

Now, aside from the sort of embedded leading nature of the question, that is the very question that was asked of Dr. Vander Weide and which he responded to.  So, again, no question of fairness or an ability of parties to know the case they met.  SEC and others directly engage on this topic.

So, in my submission, if you have regard to the totality of Dr. Booth's evidence, which the Board must do when assessing it, the interrogatories which parties asked and, in any event, everybody had an opportunity to ask on any aspect of Dr. Booth's evidence -- sorry, Dr. Vander Weide's evidence, whether they elected to or not, and then Dr. Booth's evidence, as well, in my submission, there is no question that Dr. Vander Weide does provide evidence, expert evidence, to this Board to assess the reasonableness of Union's request for a capital structure at 40 percent equity thickness.

In my submission, his evidence, when we ultimately call him, should be received and heard by the Board.  And of course, consistent with the settlement, we are not asking for an ROE any different than the Board's formula ROE, which the parties have agreed to.

Those are my submissions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Shepherd, reply?
Further Submissions by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  May I reply briefly?  I have I think four points.  First, my friend starts by asking, Why didn't I challenge his expert's credentials in a voir dire?  Well, the answer is I'm not challenging his expert's credentials in any way.  This is about whether a person can come forward, having not given evidence on something, and give evidence on it for the first time in the oral hearing.  So we're taught when we learn advocacy that if you don't like the subject, change the subject, and that is changing the subject.

The second thing is my friend took you to question 9 and says, You see, he talks about 40 percent equity thickness.  But, actually, the question says, How will you assess the reasonableness of Union's request to earn the Board's formula ROE on a capital structure containing 40 percent equity?

It's quite clear, and that is consistent with their subsequent answer to the CME IR that the 40 percent equity is context here, that the evidence is about ROE.  The expert is being asked to assume 40 percent.  On 40 percent, what's the right percentage?

The third comment I will make is my friend says that his expert looked at comparable risk utilities.  It is interesting that he says that, because he actually took you to IR J.E-3-12-5, but didn't read the key part of it.

The first part of that IR asked the question:  What's the relative risk of this list of utilities that you've provided to us?  And the answer is:
"Dr. Vander Weide has not assessed the relative business risk of the companies in Table 3.  He merely notes..."

"Merely notes":

"...that Union's requested equity ratio is approximately equal to the average approved equity ratios of other Canadian gas and electric distribution utilities."


That doesn't sound like an expert opinion to me.

But even better, in his original evidence on this same point - that is, the question of risk - on page 8 of his evidence in question 15, he's asked:
"Is there any way to assure that your comparable utilities have exactly the same risk as Union?"

The answer is:
"No.  First, it is impossible to measure Union's risk precisely because most generally accepted risk measures require that a company have publicly-traded stock.  Second, there is no single generally agreed upon measure of risk.  Third, there are no Canadian natural gas distribution companies ... with publicly-traded stock.  Fourth, there are only several Canadian regulated utilities with publicly-traded stock."


So if I can summarize that, how do you know what Union's risk is?  I don't actually know.  So that's his opinion on Union's risk.

And so our conclusion from this is that an expert who is brought to this Board to give evidence on ROE, and who incidentally talks about equity thickness as context for his opinion on ROE, is not preferred as an expert on equity thickness, and we have not had an opportunity to find out what his opinion is on equity thickness, because all he said is, Well, it looks reasonable to me.

He hasn't given any analysis of risk.  He hasn't given any analysis of the other issues that need to be addressed.  He's only made general statements and provided us with a table that he himself says he hasn't looked at the relative risk of the utilities in the table.

Those are our submissions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  The Board is going to take a 20-minute break until 10:30 to deliberate on this issue.  So we will return at 10:30.

--- Recess taken at 10:08 a.m.

--- On resuming at 10:40 a.m.
RULING ON DR. VANDER WIEDE'S EVIDENCE


MS. HARE:  Please be seated.


The Board will not exclude Dr. Vander Weide as a witness in this proceeding.


The Board notes, however, that the greatest part of Dr. Vander Weide's evidence was not directed to the equity thickness issue, but rather to the determination of ROE.


In light of this, the Board will permit intervenors latitude in their questions, which may otherwise have been restricted in the normal course.


Unless -- yes, Mr. Smith?

Preliminary Matters:


MR. SMITH:  There is one preliminary matter on which I would ask for the Board's direction, and it is a scheduling-related matter and it really is a question of preference for the Board, because we're prepared to do whatever the Board would like.


I am just looking at the clock, and I've done a canvass and looked again at the cross-examination estimates, both for the gas supply panel that remain -- Mr. Thompson, I understand has an hour and a half.  I imagine the Board may have some questions.  I may have some brief re-examination.  I think there is a risk that –- risk?  I think it is a probability that will take us to the lunch hour.


We have 6.8 hours presently scheduled for cross-examination on cost of capital.  My estimate is we have about a five-hour hearing day, which would mean that's about a day and a half.


That would take cost of capital, my friend's cross-examination, through the balance of today and tomorrow.  We're not sitting, obviously, on Wednesday.


The ex-franchise panel is currently in Chatham.  I have to make a decision whether to call them up.  I think, based on the estimates I have been provided with, they're unlikely to be reached on Tuesday.  To the extent they are reached, it's going to be in the -- after the afternoon break.


I think I would prefer to just have them called Thursday, but it -- because I don't want to call, start, and have them hanging around in Toronto.


MS. HARE:  Now, Mr. Smith if they're here Thursday morning, that would be perfect.


MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Thank you.  We'll do that.


It may make sense, given the Board's preference to have evidence heard back-to-back, we will just cross-examine Dr. Booth, who is coming that morning.  I don't expect that to be too lengthy, and we'll just roll into ex-franchise.


MS. HARE:  That's fine.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.


MS. HARE:  In terms of scheduling today, we will be breaking earlier.  There is another Board meeting that involves a Panel member, so we will be breaking at 12:25 and resuming at 1:45.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.


MS. HARE:  With that, I think we are ready to resume the cross-examination of the gas supply panel.


Mr. Thompson, please.
UNION GAS LIMITED - PANEL 2, RESUMED


Mary Evers, Previously Sworn


Tina Hodgson, Previously Sworn


Drew Quigley, Previously Sworn


Chris Shorts, Previously Sworn
Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson:

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Panel, for my examination, what you should have in front of you is the prefiled evidence, Exhibit D1, tab 1 and its attachments, as well as the other exhibits pertaining to gas supply.  And most of my questioning will be referring you to items in the compendium that was filed last date.  It is Exhibit K3.3.  So I hope you have a copy of that available to you.


There's just a few preliminaries I wanted to touch on at the outset with respect to the gas supply department.  And you, Mr. Shorts, are titled the director of gas supply; have I got that straight?


MR. SHORTS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And what are your responsibilities?


MR. SHORTS:  My responsibility is to direct the gas supply team to ensure that we have a gas supply plan and we manage to that plan, to provide secure and reliable gas supply and have a prudent gas supply panel -- plan.


MR. THOMPSON:  Do you report to a senior management person responsible for gas supply?  And if so, who is that person?


MR. SHORTS:  I report to Mark Isherwood, the vice president of business development, storage and transportation.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So gas supply is a subset of S&T; is that...


MR. SHORTS:  No, it's its own department.  And we just report through to the same vice president.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.


Now, in terms of the focus of the department, I took it from the way this was being described previously that its objective is to respond to the needs of Union's in-franchise gas consumers; is that fair?


MR. SHORTS:  The group looks at the plan and the demands of the in-franchise system sales and certain bundled customers, and it is those needs that we plan on providing secure and reliable service to.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So is it fair to say that gas supply is all about in-franchise gas distribution customers, and only about that constituency?


MR. SHORTS:  Again, as I mentioned before, it is for the system sales customers, as well as the northern bundled T-service customers.  But they all would be a subset of distribution customers.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And in-franchise distribution customers?


MR. SHORTS:  In-franchise customers, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And so the needs of ex-franchise customers -- i.e., parties who acquire S&T services from Union -- am I correct they fall outside the ambit of the gas supply department's responsibilities?


MR. SHORTS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, in terms of the organization of your department, you have Ms. Hodgson as the manager of asset acquisition and Ms. Evers as the manager of gas supply and Mr. Quigley is the manager of gas supply planning.


Can one of you just tell me what's the difference between asset acquisition in a gas supply context and gas supply?  Is that the difference between transportation and commodity?


MR. SHORTS:  Basically, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  So Ms. Hodgson, your job is to acquire the upstream transportation?


MS. HODGSON:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And Ms. Evers, your job is to acquire the commodity?


MS. EVERS:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And Mr. Quigley, you are the planner?


MR. QUIGLEY:  That is correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And as I understand it, you plan, monitor and update the -- what has been called the gas supply plan?


MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, in the evidence at Exhibit D1, tab 1, page 4, there is a statement that -- it's at line 11:

"A key objective of the Gas Supply Plan is to optimize the use of upstream contracted pipeline capacity."


Can I add to that, to understand what that means, the phrase "so as to minimize its costs to customers"?  Is that the objective?


MR. SHORTS:  Peter, the objective of that is to, again, provide for a secure and reliable -- following those five principles we have spoken about.


So when you are looking at cost, cost is certainly one of the factors, but security and reliability certainly is - as well as the other components, are the main factors.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So as to provide a secure and reliable supply and to minimize its costs to customers; would that be a fair statement of the purpose of that objective?


MR. SHORTS:  The costs we incur, we want to ensure are reasonable and prudently incurred.  They may not necessarily be minimized.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thank you.


Now, in terms of -- Mr. Quigley, this may be for you or Mr. Shorts.  I really don't care who answers it, but in terms of the frequency of planning, gas supply planning and presenting gas supply plans to the OEB, am I correct they're presented annually and quarterly for rate-setting purposes?


MR. QUIGLEY:  The plan would be prepared for a rate case hearing, such as this.  It is prepared annually for internal purposes, and the outcomes of the plan, the commodity and transport, would be part of the quarterly QRAM process.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  But I'm trying to just reflect on -- I don't have the documents here, but when you plan for your rates during the course of the IRM regime, you come in annually to set rates, and then quarterly you come through with QRAMs.


I thought there was a gas supply plan as part of those filings, but can you tell me whether there is or there isn't?


MR. QUIGLEY:  There's a plan that's prepared annually, yes.  As far as the IR period, it was based off the 2007 plan.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, what's the basis for the request for gas cost changes annually and quarterly under the IRM?  Surely it's that plan?  If not, well, then what is it?

MS. EVERS:  On a quarterly bases within our QRAM process, we reflect the current supply portfolio or the pipe that is in place.  That pipe is purchased in accordance with the plan.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right, thank you.

Now, in terms of the day-to-day procurement of the commodity and upstream transportation services specified in the gas supply plan, what role, if any, does gas supply, the gas supply department have in that process?

MS. HODGSON:  The transportation portion, we buy transport in accordance to what the plan has laid out.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But who nominates it on a daily basis?  Who does all of that kind of thing?  Are those people within the ambit of the gas supply department, or are they somewhere else?

MS. HODGSON:  No.  They're somewhere else.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, where are they?

MR. SHORTS:  They're in the capacity management utilization group.  It falls under the same umbrella, under Mr. Isherwood's responsibility, but they do fall within a separate group from gas supply.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So am I right, though, in order to monitor performance to plan, you would have to know what those people are doing?

MR. SHORTS:  What we do, Mr. Thompson, on an ongoing basis, is we manage to the plan.  So we would look to see how actuals were actually performing.

So for an example, if we -- in this past winter, we're coming out of an extremely warm period of time.  Each month we would get together to see how we were managing towards the plan, were we running ahead of schedule, behind schedule, if demands were less.

We may end up being in a situation where we have too much gas, and then each month we make a decision on what we buy.  Going forward in the next month, we also make decisions as to whether or not we may have to leave, for example, pipe empty because we have too much supply.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  I will accept that.  But am I correct that the information -- some of the information you need to make those decisions would have to come from those that are actually managing the capacity, nominating the commodity and managing the capacity?  You can't do that in the abstract, I don't think.

MR. SHORTS:  The capacity management and utilization group actually does that tracking for us, and they are part of those meetings to help us determine how we are tracking towards plan.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So that information is provided to you by capacity management.  Have I got that straight?

MR. SHORTS:  They will provide to us what our aggregate position needs to be and how we're tracking towards that position, so that we can decide -- if, for example, we had colder than normal weather and we needed incremental gas to hit our inventory targets, we could put together a plan to buy that gas, or if we had a warmer than normal winter and we had excess gas, we would actually shed some of that supply to meet our inventory targets.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So is it fair for me to conclude that your department will know what capacity management has done to acquire upstream transportation and commodity on an ongoing basis?

MR. SHORTS:  I'm sorry?

MR. THOMPSON:  You are not held in the dark about this?

MR. SHORTS:  Sorry, can you repeat that?

MR. THOMPSON:  Will your department know from capacity management what has actually happened in terms of acquiring capacity, acquiring commodity on a day-to-day basis?

MR. SHORTS:  Just to be clear, the commodity portion, we've already purchased the commodity.  So we would have purchased the commodity -- say in the example I gave on Friday, we would have purchased commodity at Empress, and, as far as how that equates to the plan -- so, in other words, if we had -- running ahead of the plan, we would potentially need more gas, so we may have to buy incremental gas.

But on a day-to-day basis, we do not actually track that.  That's that capacity management utilization group.

MR. THOMPSON:  I appreciate you don't track it, but you are informed -- in other words, if they didn't buy any gas at Empress on a particular day because you were full somewhere else, you would know that?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, we make the decision on what we buy at Empress each day, or wherever we buy it.  That is gas supply's decision.

MR. THOMPSON:  And do you make the decision on transport each day?

MR. SHORTS:  Each day we do not optimize -- we do not optimize the transportation portfolio each day.  That is the S&T group that does that.

MR. THOMPSON:  And do you know what they're doing?

MR. SHORTS:  On an ongoing basis?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

MR. SHORTS:  We bought the gas, and we know that gas will show up where we need it, so we don't know on any given day what they have actually done behind the scenes to ensure that is going to happen.

MR. THOMPSON:  So what does that mean?  You don't know how the gas that you've bought at Empress is actually getting to where it's supposed to be?

MR. SHORTS:  We know where it needs to be and S&T has guaranteed it will get there.

MR. THOMPSON:  And that's all you need to know?

MR. SHORTS:  From our perspective, that's all we need to know.

MR. THOMPSON:  And that's all you do know?

MR. SHORTS:  And that's all we do know.

MR. THOMPSON:  So are you then unaware of all of these assignments that have been put in the record?

MR. SHORTS:  All of these assignments are not the response of this group.  We do not actually -- we're not actually aware of those on an ongoing basis.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, you are aware of them now.  Is this a big surprise to you?

MR. SHORTS:  No.  I mean, it's no surprise that historically the S&T group has been optimizing Union's utility transportation assets for many years.

The S&T group then forecasts a revenue from those S&T transactions, and then that revenue basically becomes the embedded within rates to lower in-franchise rates.

So the regulated rate that those -- the regulated revenue, because again this is sold under a regulated basis under the C1 rate schedules, that revenue, not only because it's embedded within a base level of S&T forecast revenue that gets streamed back to in-franchise customers; on an ongoing basis, because those revenues are part of regulated earnings, they become part of earnings sharing.

The history on the treatment of that, both regulatory and accounting, is very long and consistent.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, we will see about that, but let's move on to guiding principles as another preliminary.

There's some information on this in your prefiled evidence, and you gave some testimony on this in-chief.  Do you recall that?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And within the prefiled evidence, there is a document at Appendix A.  It's called "System Gas Procurement Policy and Procedures".  When I read this, it appeared to apply to the commodity only.  Am I reading it correctly?

MS. HODGSON:  It applies to transportation, as well.

MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, it does.  So there is no other policy dealing with upstream transportation procurement policy and procedures?

MS. HODGSON:  No, we follow this.

MR. THOMPSON:  You follow this, all right.  So within this document that is at Exhibit -- appendix A, page 4, there are a number of objectives.  Am I correct?

MS. HODGSON:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And these appear to be compatible with what you were discussing with your evidence in-chief.  The first one is provide reasonable value through a diversified portfolio.  The second was minimize exposure to counterparty credit risk; ensure fairness to customers; and have corporate governance and controls.  Is that a fair summary of those objectives?

MS. EVERS:  These objectives speak directly to the policy and procedures, and certainly are aligned with our guiding principles.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, in the discussion in your prefiled, as well as in your evidence in-chief, I understood you, Mr. Shorts, to acknowledge an obligation to act prudently.  Did I understand that correctly?

MR. SHORTS:  Our goal is to have a prudent gas supply plan.

MR. THOMPSON:  Could you elaborate on what you think that means?

MR. SHORTS:  That certainly means to follow our guiding principles to ensure that we can effectively meet the security and reliability for our -- those customers we have that responsibility for, and to ensure we do it at a reasonable and prudently incurred cost.

MR. THOMPSON:  Do you accept as a matter of principle that neither Union's ratepayers nor its shareholders are to gain or lose from transactions related to the procurement of gas commodity and related upstream transportation?

MR. SHORTS:  Gas costs and the costs of the upstream transportation are a gas cost pass-through.

MR. THOMPSON:  And would you accept as a matter of principle that that concept has guided rate regulation in Ontario for years?

MR. SHORTS:  The treatment of gas costs and transportation costs has been pretty consistent.

MR. THOMPSON:  And can we agree that there are a number of mechanisms in place to assure that that concept is complied with, and they include the gas supply deferral account regime, the QRAM process and the Y-factor treatment of gas costs, including upstream transportation under IRM?

MR. SHORTS:  I'm certainly not the regulatory expert, but we certainly have had a longstanding history of how we've treated the S&T optimization and gas costs.

MR. THOMPSON:  I had asked Mr. Kitchen several weeks ago about administration of gas supply deferral accounts and I was told I should put these questions to this panel.

So I assume you know something about the administration of gas supply deferral accounts?

MS. EVERS:  Yes, we do.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And for the purpose of my examination, I wonder if you could just take a look at Exhibit H1, tab 4, appendix A.

And there at pages 1 and 2 of 7, I believe we see summarized the existing gas cost deferral accounts.

MR. SHORTS:  Sorry, Mr. Thompson.  Was that included in your compendium?

MR. THOMPSON:  No, it's not.  I'm sorry.

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, I missed the reference, Peter.

MR. THOMPSON:  H1, tab 4, Appendix A.

MS. EVERS:  Yes, we have that.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the description -- I don't intend to dwell on this at the moment.  I assume Ms. Elliott will be more familiar with this than perhaps you are.  But would you agree with me that these gas supply deferral accounts, existing gas supply deferral accounts, are described on pages 1 and 2 of that prefiled evidence?

MS. EVERS:  Yes, I would agree.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  And would you agree that the underlying concept of these deferral accounts is that ratepayers pay what the utility actually pays to acquire gas commodity and upstream transportation services?

MS. EVERS:  The specifics around each deferral account are laid out in the description for each one.

For instance, in the north, tolls and fuel, it describes that the variance will be based on the per-unit cost relative to the TCPL toll.  So each one is slightly different in the wording.  Inherently, they are intended to recognize the actual costs of gas supply to ratepayers.

MR. THOMPSON:  But my question was:  Do you agree that the underlying concept of these deferral accounts is that ratepayers pay what the utility actually pays to acquire gas commodity and upstream transportation services?  That is the conceptual underpinnings for the framework?

Would you agree?

MS. EVERS:  I agree.  However, I do recognize that the wording talks to what is approved in rates.  And there is specific wording for each one, so I want to make sure that we consider each one in their own context, but the underlying principle is, yes, that ratepayers pay the actual cost of supply.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So put another way, charging customers more than what the utility actually pays for upstream transportation services is a no-no; would you agree with that concept?

MS. EVERS:  I'm not sure that I understand that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, charging customers more than what the utility actually pays for upstream transportation is incompatible with the concept that has governed the regulation of upstream transportation costs in Ontario for years.

MR. SMITH:  Well, with respect, I think this is now beyond questions of fact, into a matter of argument, and what the regulatory compact has been and what -- what gas deferral accounts are intended to do and have done historically, including accounts that my friend wishes to reinstate in this proceeding.

MR. THOMPSON:  So is the panel disagreeing with that principle?  Does not feel bound by that principle?

MS. HARE:  I think Mr. Smith has argued that that is a matter of argument.

And, Mr. Thompson, I think maybe you just want to establish, again, that, in fact, the ratepayer is paying more than had they not been doing this transaction.

MR. THOMPSON:  I will move on.  Thank you.

That, then, takes me to, panel, to the FT RAM credits issue, and you have discussed this with a number of questioners already.

And I have a number of additional questions in the area, because I don't think the record is yet entirely clear as to what has transpired over the years.

So I would like to start, first of all, by getting a clear appreciation of what these RAM credits are, and to do that I wanted to direct your attention to our compendium at page 24.  At pages 19 through to 23, there is this TCPL letter that was attached to a response that you provided to BOMA, and you have had discussions with a number of questioners about that document.

But at page 24 we have a description of the service taken from the TransCanada website, and I would like to start there, if I might.

And looking at the first paragraph, we see that RAM is a service feature applicable to the main line's FT service, STS and STS L services.

Is that your understanding?

MS. HODGSON:  Yes, it is.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And that it allows for the mitigation of un-utilized demand charges?  That's its objective?

MS. HODGSON:  That's how TCPL markets the service, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, is that not its purpose?

MS. HODGSON:  It is one of the things that it can be used for.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  That is one of its purposes; is that what you're saying?  But it is not its exclusive purpose?

MS. HODGSON:  It's...

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, in terms of what these credits are, the paragraph goes on and describes the RAM credit as a dollar amount; is that correct?  Is that your understanding?

MS. HODGSON:  Yes, that's how it is described.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the description goes on to indicate that it's -- to me, that it is 110 percent of the FT toll under the contract; is that your understanding?

MS. HODGSON:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And that figure of 110 percent is -- that is the floor price for IT service from TransCanada, right?

MS. HODGSON:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And so what the RAM credit is, it provides an FT shipper with IT purchasing power with respect to an un-utilized item of demand.

MS. HODGSON:  Yes.  Can I just clarify just one piece of it?

When you use the word "credit" I think people automatically assume that you get a dollar credit on your invoice.  It doesn't work like that.

The credit is described as a dollar amount, but unless you actually use it, you don't actually capture the value of that credit.

Does that help a bit?

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, "credit" wasn't my word.  It is the way it is described in the second paragraph of this service description.

In any event, I take your point.

MS. HODGOSN:  Okay.

MR. THOMPSON:  If you have 10 units of UDC, the potential RAM credit is 110 percent of the demand charge, times 10, but if you don't use it, it is worth nothing?

MS. HODGSON:  Exactly.

MR. THOMPSON:  That is your point?

MS. HODGSON:  Yes, that is my point.  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  Now, this attribute of the FT service, would you agree, stems from the payment of demand charges for TCPL firm long-haul services?

MS. HODGSON:  It is a feature.  RAM is a feature of the firm transportation long-haul service.  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, in terms of the TCPL demand charges and their level, they have been increasing materially over the recent years; would you agree with that?

MS. HODGSON:  I don't have the specifics in front of me, but I would generally agree.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, we do have the specifics in front of us, actually.

 If you go to page 11, which is part of your response to TCPL, page 11 of the compendium, you will see TCPL demand charges over the years November 2007 right up to May 2012 for Empress to the eastern zone, Empress to the northern zone, Empress to the western zone.

MS. HODGSON:  I have it.

MR. THOMPSON:  And in November of 2007, they were $1.03, 79 cents and 52 cents, roughly, for each of those three zones.  Would you take that subject to check?  I have read that from --


MS. HODGSON:  I see that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, May '12, it is $2.24, $1.74, and $1.13.  They're up over a factor of two?

MS. HODGSON:  I see that, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Fine.  So these demand charges are a concern of shippers on the TransCanada system.  That's why you are fighting TransCanada in the NEB, for example; right?

MS. HODGSON:  I'm not...

MR. SHORTS:  Well, we're an intervenor in the TransCanada hearing, because tolls on their system impact us, as well, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Let's then move, then, to some numbers with respect to -- well, let me just back up and give an example.

You can use these UDC demand charges to bid on IT service that has a floor price of 110 percent of the FT toll; correct?  I think we have been through that already.

MS. HODGSON:  Yes, we have, and, yes, that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  So the FT RAM credit for Empress to the eastern zone would be 110 percent of -- on a unit basis, 110 percent of $2.24; right?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. HODGSON:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And I make that to be about $2.46.  Would you take that subject to check?

MS. HODGSON:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so if Union sells that attribute to an assignee marketer, one of these contractual assignments, for 20 cents, the marketer gets $2.46 of purchasing power, IT purchasing power, for that 20 cents; fair?

MS. HODGSON:  Yes.  I believe that would be correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So then let's move to all of this assigning that has been going on, and that's the previous page.  And you have discussed this with Mr. Quinn and others, and you also discussed this with Mr. Buonaguro and you are going to tell us how much of this stuff was assigned for a year or periods of less than a year.

That's coming up, I believe, in an undertaking response at some point?

MR. SMITH:  There is an undertaking in that respect.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So let's just take a look, though, at what you've been assigning.  Starting in 2007, it looks like a minimum of 35,000 was assigned for the entire ten months, December 2007 to October 2008; right?

MS. HODGSON:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then we go down to -- if we came down to winter 2009 and 2010, it is a minimum of 80,000 being assigned for the year November -- the gas year goes from November to October; is that right?

MS. HODGSON:  Yes, it does.

MR. THOMPSON:  So it's a minimum of 80,000 gJs per day being assigned in the 2009/2010 contract year; correct?

MS. HODGSON:  That's what's shown on the schedule, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  It is coming down, and in '10/11, it's a minimum of 60,000 going up to 110,000 for the last five months; correct?

MS. HODGSON:  That's what's shown on the schedule, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then '11 and '12, we're a minimum 60, and for April and May it is 117,796.

So the assignee that gets the benefit of this, let's assume it's 60,000 gJs per year -- gJs per day for the whole year, gets the benefit of 2.46 times 60 times 365; right?

MS. HODGSON:  Just a point of clarification.  The 2.46 is for the eastern zone only.  It's a different rate for the northern zone and a different rate again for the western zone.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I'm using the eastern zone example.  Let's take line 10, 60,000 a year.  If you do the math, that's purchasing power of more than $40 million?

MS. EVERS:  I would suggest, based on your calculations, that's correct.  Twenty cents may not be an accurate representation of what they paid for that value, and I believe we have an undertaking to that extent, as well.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, what do they pay?

MS. EVERS:  I don't have that with us.  We do have an undertaking to respond to that.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I will come to it in a moment, but there is an example that uses -- illustrates one of these transactions.  Let's just assume it is 20 cents, so that out of $50 million, what Union gets is 10 million.  Maybe it is less.  Maybe it is 15 percent.

But is it fair for me to suggest that you are assigning this stuff to assignees for cents on the dollar?

MR. SHORTS:  Mr. Thompson, the mechanics of how and when and the rate that is paid by assignees that get this capacity, as has been outlined in this interrogatory response, is essentially the S&T group.  That's what they do and that's how they operate.

For the gas supply group, we don't utilize or manage the FT RAM credits like that.  I mean, what we do is, on an ongoing basis, when we're managing the system as I described earlier and we think -- we plan on the fact that we may have more gas than we require, we would actually leave the pipe empty and assign that pipe away via an RFP process to get the most value.

The problem with the RAM program is that we don't know how much the value of the revenue that could be generated would be in that short period of time, and those RAM credits expire.

The best way for us to get value for the customers is to actually release utility pipe, if we do not require it for the supply plan, get the full coverage or the full recovery of as much revenue as we can for that.

We do that by an RFP process.  That pretty much locks in the fact we're going to get the best rate for the customer.

Then the entire proceeds of that get credited back to the customers within the UDC deferral account.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, what I hear you saying to me is that gas supply does some assignments?

MR. SHORTS:  When we assign the --


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, am I right gas supply department does some assignments?

MS. EVERS:  When the pipe is unutilized by the utility so we have excess supply in our portfolio as a result of actual variances in our activity, we will instruct S&T to release that pipe to the market through an RFP process.

So it's on our instruction that that supply is made available or that transport capacity is made available to the market.

MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry.  You have some authority over S&T when there is empty pipe?

MS. EVERS:  They have access to the market, so we provide them information as to how much pipe can be released to the market that the utility is not utilizing.

MR. THOMPSON:  And you know the pipe is unutilized because...

MS. EVERS:  Because on a monthly basis we review our target position as to what we need for the utility as we approach November 1st.  To the extent that we are forecasting to have excess supply in advance of November 1st, we will evaluate whether or not we need to leave pipe empty and reduce our planned purchases to meet that target inventory position.

MR. THOMPSON:  And does S&T have to follow your guidance, or can it do something else?

MS. EVERS:  They follow our guidance.

MR. THOMPSON:  So coming back to then -- and I will get to in a little more detail later, but you were discussing these examples with previous questioners.  And at page 8 of the material is the page of the exhibit that has these various types of transactions.

And the first type of transaction is, I believe, the type of transaction that you are describing at the moment?

MS. EVERS:  That is correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Union periodically has excess TCPL capacity that Union releases in the market.

So when that type of transaction takes place, the remuneration recovered is credited to ratepayers, and so they only actually pay what the utility pays for upstream transportation.

The principle is respected in that type of transaction?

MS. EVERS:  The utility is -- or the ratepayer, utility ratepayers are paying the UDC costs for the firm transport that is approved in rates, net of the recovery that we're able to collect from the marketplace.

So they are paying a lesser cost, because we have been able to put that pipe into the marketplace and gain value for it.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  So in this scenario, if the unabsorbed demand charge is, let's say, $100, and you release into the market and you get $30 for it, the $30 goes into the UDC deferral account and ratepayers only pay what the utility has paid for that space?

MS. EVERS:  In your example, they would pay the $70, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Utilities pay 70 and the ratepayers pay 70?

MS. EVERS:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  I will come back to that in a moment.

Now, the second example, while we're on it, is talking about the -- this is now using the RAM program, and what I understood it to be is using RAM credits to reduce the costs of LBA fees.

And the way I understood it is that transaction would flow through to the benefits of ratepayers.  In other words, they would only pay the reduced LBA fees; is that correct?

MS. EVERS:  They would pay the minimum IT charge because of the benefit of the RAM credits that reduce the total IT charge.  That is how it works.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But they do get the benefit of the RAM dollars in the second example?  Or do they not?

MS. EVERS:  They do get the benefit, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So it is the same -- the first transaction doesn't involve RAM dollars, the second does, but again, in that case, the principle is respected, in the sense that ratepayers pay what the utility pays; fair?

MS. EVERS:  Ratepayers are getting -- in the second instance, ratepayers are getting the benefit of RAM credits to reduce the interruptible costs.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So what -- the actual interruptible cost paid by the utility -- i.e., less the RAM credits -- are what the ratepayer pays?

MS. EVERS:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Okay.  Well, then, I want to move on to the other two types of transaction, if I may.

These are -- I want to do this, if I can, by referring you to, firstly, page 6 of the compendium.  Just keep your finger on that.

And then, if you would also go over to page 16 of the compendium, which is an undertaking response stemming from the technical conference, and in that undertaking response, you will see there is an example of what's called a base exchange.  There is an example of what's called a capacity assignment.  And then there is an example of what's called the RAM optimization transaction.

Do you see that?

MS. EVERS:  Yes, we do.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So if you would then just go back to page 6, you'll see the information from which the question that was answered by way of undertaking response at the technical conference, the information that gave rise to the question.

At line 1, you have some numbers described as base exchanges.  Do you see that?

MS. EVERS:  We see that.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then next heading is "RAM revenue" and there are three categories of transactions described under RAM revenue.

One is capacity assignment, the second is RAM optimization, and the third is "other"; do you see that?

MS. EVERS:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And if you would go across to line 5, the subtotal of RAM revenue amounts, 400,000 in 2007 and 14.2 million in 2012, would you take it, subject to check, that the sum of the numbers in line 5 is $67.3 million?

MS. EVERS:  Subject to check.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And am I correct that that $67.3 million flows, under the way Union administers this, to Union's shareholder?

MR. SHORTS:  Mr. Thompson, a portion of that revenue would be embedded within an S&T forecast.  A portion of that would be the amount that was guaranteed as a reduction to in-franchise rates, as well, because that would be subject to earnings sharing.  A portion of that would also be subject to earnings sharings and potentially go back to ratepayers.

MR. THOMPSON:  Could you answer my question?   Does that money flow to the shareholders?  Well, let me put it this way.

Is it credited to ratepayers through the gas supply deferral accounts related to upstream transportation?

MR. SHORTS:  It is not credited through a gas deferral account.

It is -- makes its way back to customers, due to the S&T forecast that's embedded in rates, as well as any earnings sharing that would result from that, as well.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, we'll come to how much makes its way back.

But the total is $67.3 million?  We agree on that; fair?

MR. SHORTS:  Fair.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, then coming forward, if I might, to the information at page 16 and 17, and let's start with capacity assignment.

This is the first category of transaction that is under the "RAM revenue" heading that I mentioned, that we were discussing earlier.

And do you know whether this is a realistic example?

MS. EVERS:  Mr. Thompson, these examples are applicable to some of the mechanics behind the S&T revenue, and would be more appropriately answered by them as far as the detail related to how those work.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  I will take that up with them.  I just want to work through it with you briefly, if I might.

So the capacity assignment example is Union assigns to a third party 20,000 gJs per day of Empress-to-Union EDA capacity for one month.

Just stopping there, it could be for one month or it could be for a year, based on what you have already told Mr. Buonaguro?

MS. EVERS:  Based on what is provided in evidence, that is the case, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And the value of that one-month assignment, 20,000 gJs, would be -- it would be 600,000 gJs for a 30-day month and it would be times the $2.46 that we were describing previously, right?

So the purchasing power value to the assignee is that number?  It is a large number, $12 million or more, probably closer to $15 million.

Would you take that subject to check?

MS. EVERS:  I am obviously not doing the math as quickly as you are, but subject to check.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Then it says the same counterparty, which I read to be the assignee, also agrees to accept Union's supply at Empress.  So that's the commodity that you are buying at Empress; right?

MS. EVERS:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And delivers the equivalent quantity to Dawn?

MS. EVERS:  That's correct, in that particular instance.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the customer pays Union -- there is, I'm told, a correction.  It should be 40 cents per gJ.  Would you take that subject to check?

MS. EVERS:  Yes, subject to check.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then it goes on in this example, prior to the capacity assignment, the gas is not required in the EDA and would have been transported to Dawn for storage using TCPL STS service.

Then it shows the amount, the revenue from the pipe release, $240,000, net revenue $240,000.  So that is a capacity assignment example.

MS. EVERS:  And that is consistent with what was described at paragraph 3 on page 2 of 3 of J.C-4-7-10.

So this is outside of gas supply.  From a gas supply perspective, we purchase the supply at Empress, and we talked a little bit about this on Friday.  We purchase the supply at Empress.  That supply is being delivered through alternate means as part of the S&T group.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right, but the -- and we know this 20,000 a day is -- it is much larger, based on the assignment figures that have been provided.

But I suggest to you realistically what's happening is you represent to this Board, when you come in with your gas supply plan, that we are buying gas -- "we", Union Gas, are buying gas at Empress.  We, Union Gas, are carrying it on TransCanada Pipelines Limited to a point in the -- for receipt in our system, and that's where we take it.

But in actual fact, that's not happening.

MR. SHORTS:  We start off with a prudent gas supply plan.  From that point forward, S&T may optimize the transportation capacity that's underpinning that.  That's been a long-standing practice.

MR. THOMPSON:  But the plan that gets implemented is not the plan that you present to the Board?

MR. SHORTS:  The assets that are in the plan are the assets that underpin that plan.  So when we -- if you look at, for example, D3, tab 2, schedule 5 and all of our transportation capacity, we hold all of that transportation capacity, from a planning perspective, to serve the plan.  That's what is embedded within the plan.

MR. THOMPSON:  Union Gas is not taking delivery of the commodity in the west.  It's not shipping it on TransCanada.  It has some unknown third party that has taken on the responsibility of getting your gas from the west to your franchise area in the east.  That's the reality.

MR. SHORTS:  And the S&T group guarantees and takes all of the risk that we will have the gas where we need it, when we need it.

MR. THOMPSON:  But that's based on the existence of some unknown -- these have to be huge marketers.  Surely, those are the assignees.  Do you know who they are?

MR. SHORTS:  I don't know who the counterparties are.  I'm not involved in that part of the transactions.

MR. THOMPSON:  So the gas supply department at Union Gas doesn't know who actually gets its gas from the west to the east?

MR. SHORTS:  We're buying the gas in the west.  It's showing up where we require it, and the S&T group is guaranteeing that it shows up where and when we require it.

MR. THOMPSON:  And what happens if it doesn't show up?  Do you go over and slap Mr. Isherwood on the wrist?

MR. SHORTS:  Whatever would be required for that gas to show up would be the risk of the S&T group.  We are held whole by any of those transactions.

MR. THOMPSON:  The S&T group is part of the utility, is it not?

MR. SHORTS:  The S&T group is certainly a part of Mr. Isherwood's group.

MR. THOMPSON:  It's part of the utility?

MR. SHORTS:  It's part of Union Gas.

MR. THOMPSON:  Is it part of the utility?

MR. SHORTS:  I don't know the direct distinction between utility versus non-utility.  I'm not an expert in that area.

MS. HARE:  Well, I think that is actually a key question.  Is it a part of the regulated utility or not?

MR. SMITH:  It is part of the utility to the extent, when we talk about S&T, we're talking about storage and transportation.  The storage aspect of it is Union's only non-utility business.

The transportation of gas is a regulated activity by this Board and, to that extent, is a utility business.  But Mr. Isherwood's group also does storage activity, and, hence, the confusion.  But transportation is a regulated activity.

MS. HARE:  Right.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Let's move to the RAM optimization example, which is at page 17 of the compendium.

MS. TAYLOR:  Sorry, Mr. Thompson, before you move into the next example, I would like to clarify with this example which translates, as you mentioned, directly back to number 3 in Friday's discussion.  Today is Monday.

And there is this notion that the utility ratepayer is held harmless by these exchanges, if you will.  When you have capacity and you sell it, you're not getting the full demand charge, are you?  Mr. Thompson gave an example where you sold it for 30 cents and the net cost to the utility was 70.

But then you create a margin on that, on the S&T side, which you then split with the utility.  So the utility is not, technically speaking, held harmless; is that correct?

MS. EVERS:  The utility in-franchise ratepayers would pay just the demand costs that would be associated with the firm transport that we purchase for their use.  Any --


MS. TAYLOR:  If you're buying more firm transport -- so we have seen the same schedule now two days where you seem to have a systemic amount of excess that the utility customer is required to pay the demand charge for.

So when you release it out into the market, it is not definitional that the bundled firm transport and RAM credit sell for market value that is equal to the demand charge; is that correct?

MS. EVERS:  That's right.

MS. TAYLOR:  So by over-contracting, the utility ratepayer is paying, in effect, more firm service charges somewhat, mitigated by the optimization, which is then split; is that fair?

MS. EVERS:  I would suggest that the utility is not over-contracting.  As Mr. Quigley described, we plan for assets that are required to meet our design day demand.

MS. TAYLOR:  Okay.  We will take that up, I guess, with the other group, because there's a consistent amount of capacity that's being resold, I guess annually, monthly, that we keep seeing in this chart.  And, I'm sorry, I don't have the reference now.

So that either suggests it's planned releases, which are the type 3, or it's the type 1 where you don't actually need it; where the type 3 is you do need it, but you get still doing the optimization trade-off the back side of it.

MS. EVERS:  That's correct.

MR. QUIGLEY:  Yes.  And most of those would be type 3.  We plan on filling that capacity.  The S&T group is looking within the season.  Given weather, other factors, market values, they may find another way of delivering that supply to where we anticipate it to be and earn some revenue on that.

MS. TAYLOR:  So my last question before turning you back to Mr. Thompson, then.  All things being equal, you need the gas.  You have to move it there, but you are taking the utility asset, as we discussed on Friday, and making a margin off of it, which you are then splitting; is that correct?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Yes, yes.

MS. TAYLOR:  The primary purpose of that trade is to make the margin; is that correct?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Yes, because there is S&T --


MS. TAYLOR:  Because otherwise you'd just leave it and the utility customer would take the gas in the manner originally contracted; is that right?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct.

MS. TAYLOR:  Okay.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  If I could just follow on that question of my colleague, as I look at the chart at J.C-4-7-10, page 2 of 3, as I look at that chart I see a couple of things.

And one is the -- and I think the word that my colleague used was "systemic" amount.  There are amounts that are rounded.  For example, winter '08/09, we have 28,000, 48,000.  We've got winter 2009 and 2010, 80,000.  The winter of 2010 and 2011, that is 60,000 across the board.

If we look at the summer, we see some of that systemic type of -- what seems to be a systematic amount, not a consequential amount, but a sort of planned amount.

Am I reading that correctly?  Are those numbers predicted rather than consequential?

MS. EVERS:  I'm not sure I understand the distinction.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, you indicated that you would - if you had unused capacity, that you would advise the S&T group that you had unused capacity and you would turn that back.  And they would then get a request for proposals, and they would try to sell that on the market.  They would try to assign that on the market; is that right?

MR. SHORTS:  I just want to make clear we would release that to the market.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Fair enough.  So you would release it to the market so S&T can make some money from it?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, if the gas supply group does not require the molecules or the supply, because we suspect that we will exceed an inventory target some months ahead, we would then require the S&T group to do an RFP, to release that capacity on a short-term basis to the market, all of that revenue recovered from that transaction gets credited to the customers as a credit to the UDC deferral account.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  But that's what I call a consequential amount.  That is an amount that arises because of circumstances that are ripening in the market.

But as I look at these other numbers, they appear to be numbers that are planned.  They appear to be numbers that are anticipated before the fact; is that right?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Well, I guess they would be anticipated  because they know we plan on flowing gas on that transportation path.

Like the plan -- excuse me.  The plan would say we are filling that pipe 365 days a year.  So they know that the gas is being bought at Empress, in this instance, and then delivered into the delivery area.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  But if I look at the eastern zone for June of 2011, I see 110,000, June, July, August, September and October, a quantity of 110,000 gigajoules per day.

That doesn't look like a number that is consequential; that doesn't look like a number that arises because the market has evolved in a certain specific fashion.  It looks like it is a planned number.  Is it a planned number?

MR. QUIGLEY:  I guess planned from the fact that going into the season they would look at what we're expecting to flow and they may say:  Okay.  We have X amount of capacity into the eastern zone and we can assign Y percent of that away.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.

MR. QUIGLEY:  It would be a round number, because they may just do the deals to the nearest thousand gJs.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And the other thing that comes out of this chart is that the amounts for summer are often substantially higher than those for winter.  So -- in some cases, twice as much, or almost twice as much.

Why would that be so?  Why would the summer numbers be so much larger than the winter numbers, in a consistent pattern?

MS. EVERS:  In the summertime, a lot of that gas isn't required in the deliverability area and there is an underpinning exchange that would bring that gas to Dawn.  So that there is a -- the different opportunity in the summer than there would be in the winter.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So you know prior to that happening that that is going to happen, right?

This is not unused capacity that arises because the market has altered in some fashion; this is a planned excess, and it's planned particularly for the summer, in large quantities; is that right?

MS. EVERS:  It's planned based on what they believe is available, that they could exchange to Dawn, yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Back to you, Mr. Thompson.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  Well, just perhaps to help with Member Taylor's question -- and this may not be something you folks can help us with -- but there's an exhibit -- the question really is:  How much of the monetization of RAM credits is not flowing back to ratepayers?

And one can actually calculate that based on the answer to JE3.5.1, which shows the earnings sharing and the proportion shared with customers, and comparing it to the RAM revenue subtotals at page 9 -- sorry, page 6 of our brief.

I will just leave it at that, rather than walking you people through this.  And I will leave that for Mr. Isherwood and his panel.

I wanted, though, to come back to, if I could, the RAM optimization example.  This is at page 17 of the -- our brief.  I think you will tell me it's the fourth -- it's the fourth example that you have described on page 8 of the brief.

But I want to make sure I understand this transaction.  And I think to do that we have to look at the so-called base exchange, which I understand to be a transaction where Union buys IT on TransCanada to support it, without any support from RAM credits.

Is that your understanding of the base exchange?  This is what would happen before RAM credits came into existence?

MS. EVERS:  Mr. Thompson, we have indicated that we're not as familiar with the mechanics of this as the other panel would be, so our ability to be helpful is very limited.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, let me just -- we see here -- let me try to give it at a high level -- that the base exchange and the RAM optimization example on the next page are exactly the same transaction.

Union sells Dawn-Niagara exchange for 20,000 gJs per day for one month at 35 cents per gJ.  Union serves this exchange with TCPL IT transportation.  And then the base exchange goes through to the costs -- it looks like IT cost -- at full freight.

And then on the second example, the only difference is -- in the numbers, is the IT minimum charge, which tells me that the difference between the 180,476 in the first example and the 8,643 in the second is being funded by RAM credits.

Is that the way you see these transactions?

MS. EVERS:  That could be the interpretation, but as I said, it would be better answered by the panel 3.

MR. THOMPSON:  My understanding is that that increased margin, that 171,833 attributable to RAM credits, is not being flowed through to ratepayers through the gas supply deferral accounts.  In other words, not 100 percent credit, but that goes into the -- into earnings, and to the extent -– the extent to which ratepayers share in it depends upon the earnings sharing ratio and whether Union's over the 200 basis dead point band, and so on.

Can you help us with that, or is that for the next group?

MS. EVERS:  The attributes of these deals do not flow through gas supply, so the next panel would be better able to help you.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thank you.

My next question is really to try to get this clear, in terms of the nature of each of the transactions.

What I would like to ask -- and if you could do this by undertaking, I would appreciate it, but we have been trying to find out for the period 2007 to 2012 how much is flowing to ratepayers through the deferral accounts.

And now we better understand there are these four cases.  There is the capacity release-type case that you've described, and that's something that you are responsible for.

So I was wondering if you could undertake to provide us all of the release-type transactions where the money flows completely through to ratepayers.  How many -- how much -- how much dollar amounts have flowed to ratepayers for that type of transaction over the years 2007 to 2012 inclusive.

Can that be done without a lot of headache?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, that can be done.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let me just finish, then.  I'll run --


MR. SMITH:  I should say it may be a challenge to get it for tomorrow, but we will certainly work on it as quickly as we can.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Then if we could just add to that all of the cases in the same time frame for what are described as reduction in LBA fees transaction.

So that is the type 2 transaction that is described at page 8 of the brief.  Could that be added, as well, over the period 2007 to 2012 inclusive?  And if they're de minimis, then we don't need to do it.


MR. SMITH:  Yes.  We will see what we can -- we will do to.  I am just not sure what the information -- how readily accessible it is, but we will provide a response.


MR. MILLAR:  J4.1.

UNDERTAKING NO. J4.1:  FOR 2007 TO 2012, TO PROVIDE FLOW THROUGH TO RATEPAYERS OF CAPACITY-RELEASE-TYPE TRANSACTIONS, LBA FEES TRANSACTIONS, CAPACITY ASSIGNMENT CASES NOT ALREADY FILED, AND OTHER RAM OPTIMIZATION TRANSACTIONS

MR. THOMPSON:  There were two more lines to it, but let me just...  What I wanted to have you do is give us all of the, quotes, capacity assignment cases if they are not already in what's been filed, and then all of the other RAM optimization transaction, if they're not already in what's been filed.


MR. SMITH:  They have already been filed in the interrogatories we're looking at, because we provided the net revenue from those activities in the interrogatories we have looked at.  I am happy to take a second look at it and confirm it, but I'm quite certain it's been provided.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  May we just add that to that undertaking number, Mr. Millar, if that is satisfactory?


MS. HARE:  Mr. Millar, could you give it an undertaking number, please?


MR. MILLAR:  I thought we were keeping it as part of 4.1, but would you like it assigned separately?


MR. THOMPSON:  No, that's fine.  One answer is fine.


MS. HARE:  That's fine.


MR. SMITH:  That's fine.


MS. HARE:  If we were to have that before the ex-franchise revenue panel is on, that would be most helpful.


MR. SMITH:  Yes, certainly.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, just sticking with planning for a moment, I think the way to do this is turn up Exhibit D3, tab 2, schedule 5, page 1 of 2 and page 2 of 2.


What we have here is the summary of upstream transportation contracts effective November 1, 2011 for the northern operations area -- northeastern on page 1 and southern operations on page 2.  Do you see that, panel?


MS. HODGSON:  We have it.


MR. THOMPSON:  And within that -- sorry, within those plans, there are Empress to Union EDA contracts with TransCanada Pipelines shown in lines 1 to 13.


MS. HODGSON:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Then on the second page, there are Empress to Union CDA contracts for the southern operations of Union Gas; correct?


MS. HODGSON:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And my question is:  How much of that Empress to Union EDA on page 1 and Empress to Union CDA on page 2 has been assigned away?  Can you provide that by way of undertaking?


MS. HODGSON:  We're just checking to see if it has already been filed.


MR. THOMPSON:  This is for the 2011 to 2012 time frame, which is what I assumed this plan is --


MS. HODGSON:  If you go back to J.C-4-7-10 --


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.


MS. HODGSON:  -- lines number 1, 4, 7, and so on, are Empress to eastern zone.


MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, is this page 10 now of my compendium?


MS. HODGSON:  I believe it is.


MR. THOMPSON:  So we're looking at the last box, winter 2011 and summer 2012.


MS. HODGSON:  That's fine.  You will see in each row - in each group of rows, I guess, it starts with Empress to eastern zone.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.


MS. HODGSON:  The eastern zone is made up of the eastern delivery area or the EDA that you pointed to in the D3, tab 2, schedule 5.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.


MS. HODGSON:  Plus the CDA which you pointed to in D3, tab 2, schedule 5, and the NCDA, which is also there.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so then these total assignment numbers appear in -- sorry, are disaggregated in each of those delivery areas, or are they all EDA, some EDA, some CDA?  Do you see what I'm getting at?


MS. HODGSON:  It would be some combination of those three, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Can you provide that to us, the breakdown of the assignments in this J.C-4-7-10, attachment 1, page 10 of the compendium, between the EDA, CDA and the NCDA?


MR. SMITH:  So I understand the question, is the question, then, for the eastern zone, to break down which portion is from the -- which portion is from the EDA, which portion is from the CDA and which portion is from the NCDA; is that correct?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.


MR. MILLAR:  J4.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. J4.2:  TO PROVIDE BREAKDOWN OF ASSIGNMENTS IN J.C-4-7-10, ATTACHMENT 1, PAGE 10 OF THE COMPENDIUM, BETWEEN THE EDA, CDA AND THE NCDA.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And now for the 2012/2013 test year, have you planned assignments?


MR. SHORTS:  The forecast activity for that would be best left to the next panel.  We don't know what -- to what degree they have forecasted any activity under those categories for the next year.


MR. THOMPSON:  So if it's planned, you haven't planned it.  Is that what I hear you saying?


MR. SHORTS:  That's correct.  We have not planned for it.


MR. THOMPSON:  And if the S&T have forecasted it, they haven't shared those forecasts with you?


MR. SHORTS:  I certainly don't have the numbers in front of us, access to that right now.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, that's not my question.  Have they shared them with you?


[Witness panel confers]


MS. EVERS:  We are aware.  We just don't have that information with us, Mr. Thompson.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, is it a matter of public record with TransCanada Pipelines what your plans are in terms of assignments?  Do you know?


MS. EVERS:  I don't know.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, we will leave that to the next panel.  Let me move on.  I've got maybe 15 minutes.  Would you like to plough on, Madam Chair?


MS. HARE:  Yes, please.  I want to go back to the question, because it wasn't that complicated a question.


Mr. Thompson asked:  Did they share those forecasts with you?  And you conferred, and then you said "we are aware".  So that to me means, yes, they shared the forecast with you.  Is that correct?


MS. EVERS:  We are aware not of a forecast, but when that activity actually happens, we are aware of that.  So it's not necessarily a forecast, but if the capacity has been assigned, we are of what capacity has been assigned and on what contract.


MS. HARE:  After the fact?


MS. EVERS:  Yes.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  I want to move to, if I can, the 10.4 pJs of UDC that you are forecasting for 2012-2013.

And the evidence, as I understand it on that, is that's broken up between some issues in the northern Ontario area and some in the EDA.  And I believe there's an undertaking to break out how much of the 10.4 is attributable to each delivery area.

Have I got that straight?

MR. QUIGLEY:  There is UDC in multiple delivery areas across Union's north, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  So is it the north or is it the western zone?  I had under --


MR. QUIGLEY:  Sorry.  It's in various of Union's delivery areas, across its northern and eastern operations.

MR. THOMPSON:  So is that coming in the undertaking?  I thought it was for two distinct areas, but it's --


MR. QUIGLEY:  No.  We gave an example of the UDC in two distinct areas.  I don't believe I said that that was all of the UDC in the north.  We gave you an example of the Manitoba delivery area and the eastern delivery area.  There is UDC, as well, in the other delivery areas in the north.

MR. THOMPSON:  But under your plan, it is increasing from, I think you said, about four petaJoules to 10.4?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And just in terms of dollars charged to ratepayers, again depending on the zone, it would be the difference between the 4 and 10.4, times the demand charge for the zone in which this increased UDC is being forecast?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And because that capacity, wherever it is, UDC can be assigned and the assignee can use the RAM credits to transport anywhere on the TransCanada system, there is a RAM credit overlay to this increased UDC forecast; would you agree?

MR. QUIGLEY:  The UDC -- if the capacity is left empty, it does generate a RAM credit, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, you are forecasting that it will be empty?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so right then and there, there's a RAM credit opportunity?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And so is that one of the drivers for the forecast?

MR. QUIGLEY:  No.  The UDC is a result, as I think I mentioned, of -- we need to hold sufficient firm capacity to meet our design day demands in each of the northern delivery areas.  Those design day demands are in excess of the average day demands, which drive the gas plan.

So the UDC is -- as -- the increase in UDC from 2007 to now is a result of the decline in average throughput through the north in the general service and contract rate markets, but the design day demands have not -- or have not changed, or have changed by a small amount.

So we still have the obligation on a design day to serve those customers, and we need that firm capacity in order to serve those customers on a design day.  That gas is flowing at 100 percent load factor on a design day.

All that capacity we hold is full to 100 percent capacity on a design day.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, this, then, comes back to something Mr. Quinn was talking to you about, and that's the opportunity to use ST FT to manage the peak and have a lower level of FT than what you are planning.

And that discussion, you've had that with him, but I understood you to be saying that one of the reasons you feel compelled to contract long-haul is you need the STS rights that go with it.

Did I understand that correctly?

MR. QUIGLEY:  As to acquire a STS contract, a prerequisite of that is to hold long-haul TCPL transportation.

There's not STS rights attached to a TCPL long-haul transportation contract.  Holding the long-haul transportation contract is a prerequisite to contracting for TCPL's STS service.

MR. THOMPSON:  I misspoke, and thank you for clarifying that.

But did you not say that one of your reasons for sticking with long-haul as opposed to going to this combination of long-haul ST FT that the market seems to be favouring, was you wanted to have -- to keep the rights to acquire STS.  That was the rationale for long-haul, exclusive long haul?

MS. HODGSON:  Yes, that's right.  That's one of the reasons that we hold long-haul.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yet you have assigned away most of it, and the rights go with the assignment.

MS. HODGSON:  They do not.  I tried to make this clear yesterday, and I don't think I did a very good job.  So could I try again with the STS?

STS is a separate service.  It's not a feature of the long-haul transportation.  It's a separate service.

So the only way you can buy that service is if you have the long-haul on TCPL.

When you assign the long-haul transportation away on a temporary assignment, you can't -- the STS doesn't follow it like the RAM feature does.  The STS stays -- that service is distinct from the long-haul and it stays with us.

MR. THOMPSON:  But if you assign the FT away for the whole year, then the STS right is lost, is it not?

MS. HODGSON:  It's not -- it's not a right that goes with the long-haul.

So we keep that right.  On a practical basis, can you use it?  That's a different question.

But you don't -- when you assign away the long-haul transportation, the right for the STS service does not go with it.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Fine.  So I have to be clearer.

You haven't given it away, but you can't use it?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. HODGSON:  The only way you couldn't use it would be if you gave -- if you assigned away 100 percent of your pipe.

So if you don't assign 100 percent of your pipe, then you can use it.

MR. THOMPSON:  All of it?  Or just some of it?

MS. HODGSON:  On any one day, you may or may not be able to use all of it, and you may or may not need all of it.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, it sounds to me that your rationale for justifying long-haul, exclusive long-haul instead of long-haul and some ST FT combination, of sustaining STS, is rather diluted when you assign -- you make the assignments that you've made.  It undermines your rationale for refusing to even consider this ST FT approach; is that fair?

MR. SHORTS:  Mr. Thompson, it's not just long-haul capacity that's serving the design day requirements.  It's a combination of long-haul.  It's a combination of the STS withdrawal rights, et cetera, that are actually embedded within the plan to provide that proper level of management of the peak day or design day requirements for each individual zone.

It's not just long-haul that is contracted for and used on any given day.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I'll move on to a few closing points here.

Now, with respect to the identity of the assignees who have responsibility of bringing a lot of your gas to Ontario, are you prepared to disclose the identity of these assignees in confidence?

We can argue later whether it should be on the record, but I believe the Board should know who is responsible for getting Union's gas to Ontario.

So I am asking:  Are you prepared to disclose the identity of the assignees in confidence?  You do say at -- I think it's at page 8 of the material.  This is in your response to TransCanada.  You have not identified the assignees as that information is commercially sensitive.

MR. SMITH:  Well, I think the answer to that is almost certainly yes, we'd be prepared to do that.  It will be the S&T group that has responsibility for those assignments, so I think I need to, at the lunch hour, have a discussion as to whether there are any issues I'm not aware of, but I think likely, yes.  I am just not in a position to give that undertaking right now.

MS. HARE:  That's fine.  And also whether or not it would have to be filed in confidence.

MR. SMITH:  I'm sure it will be needed to be filed in confidence.  I just wanted to know if there are other issues I am not aware of.

MS. HARE:  Yes, that's fine.

MR. THOMPSON:  A couple of more topics, and then I am done, and they're quite short.

You were having an enlightening discussion with Mr. Cameron about the St. Clair and Bluewater transportation services.  Do you recall that?

MS. HODGSON:  Yes, we do.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, are St. Clair and Bluewater part of the gas supply plan?  In other words, do you know what they're used for?

MS. HODGSON:  Yes, we do.

MR. THOMPSON:  And could you enlighten us?

MS. HODGSON:  The St. Clair River crossing is part of the -- part of our supply portfolio.  Some of our transportation paths cross the St. Clair line.

It is also used for security and reliability of supply, and that's the same instance for Bluewater.

MR. THOMPSON:  But will they be utilized, or are they just there empty as a safety net?

MS. HODGSON:  The St. Clair line is used on a daily basis and is contracted for, a portion of it.  A portion of it is used for security and reliability and is used from time to time.

And the Bluewater is also used from time to time.

MR. THOMPSON:  For in-franchise purposes?

MS. HODGSON:  Yes.  So, for example, two very good examples are when there's a cold winter and we need additional molecules to come from the -- from an additional source, we may transport them across those lines.

And another example is if there's an outage.  So, for example, I think, subject to check, it was in 2008 and there was a Vector outage for a period of a few days.  We would bring molecules home across one of those lines.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, perhaps you could look at this.  I suspect it's not something you can answer.  It might be something that Ms. Elliott can answer.  It is Exhibit J.O-4-15-1.  It's  presentations that were made to Union management, I believe, executive presentations.  The last one was in September of 2011 --


MS. HODGSON:  Sorry, is it in your compendium, or do we need to grab the binders?  Is it in your compendium somewhere?

MR. THOMPSON:  No, it's not.  This is something you're going to have to dig out.  J.O-4-15-1.

There is a lot of black lines in this, but it's a presentation that was made to the executives, as I understand it, including both regulated -- or, sorry, utility and non-utility activities.

But if you go to the third page in, at the bottom of the page you will see, third line up:  St. Clair to Dawn Transport.  So that is the July presentation to the executive, and it doesn't appear to be showing any activity in 2011 and beyond.

Do you see that?

MS. HODGSON:  I see what you are referencing, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then if you go forward into the later presentation to the executive, you have to go through to page 8 now.  I have numbered these pages, but attachment -- it is the second page of attachment 2.

Again, at the bottom we have St. Clair line adjustment.  There is now something for 2011, but nothing in years subsequent.

Can you help us with why those entries are the way they are?

MR. SHORTS:  Again, this is not, Mr. Thompson, part of our evidence, but my understanding is, through the settlement agreement, there was about $2 million of S&T activity that was added to that based upon capacity and transactions crossing the St. Clair line.

So as I understand it, there's been a $2 million adjustment to the base level of S&T revenue forecasted to recognize activity coming across the St. Clair line.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  But can you tell us -- I take it you can't tell us why the entries are the way they were in this presentation to your executive?

MR. SHORTS:  No, that would be obviously for another panel.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, finally, I want to come back and close with the big picture, and this takes us to my in-franchise revenue brief, K2.3.

And if you go to -- if you have that, panel, it derives from information -- I am at page 1, excuse me.  It is line 6, delivery-related gas costs.

All of this information stems from information the company has provided in Exhibit J.O-4-14-1.  And you will see at line 6 there's a cumulative contribution to revenue sufficiency on the delivery-related gas cost line.

And from the information provided in the variance analysis in the following document, J.O-4-11-1, this is referencing unaccounted for gas, as well as intra period WACOG.

The unaccounted for gas I think I understand, but can you help me with what the intra period WACOG has to do with driving revenue sufficiency, or is that for another panel?

MS. EVERS:  That would be for Ms. Elliott.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar, how long do you think you will be?

MR. MILLAR:  I expect more than ten minutes.

MS. HARE:  All right.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm happy to start now, but...

MS. HARE:  No.  Then we will hold you until after lunch.  Mr. Sommerville has one question, or maybe two.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Hopefully just one.  On J.C-4-7-10, which is page 8 of CME's compendium -- page 2 of 3, rather, you outline the scenarios related to -- well, the four scenarios that Mr. Thompson was talking about.

And the second one in the second paragraph relates to the limited balancing agreement and that the RAM credits can be used to address your obligations under the limited balancing agreement.  That's right, isn't it?

MS. EVERS:  It recognizes that without benefit of IT, we would have increased LBA charges, and RAM credits help offset the cost of the IT.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Would some of your obligations under the limited balancing agreement arise because of the assignments that we have been talking about?

MS. EVERS:  I don't think so, no.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Perhaps after the break you could be a little more definitive about your answer.

MR. SMITH:  We will confirm that.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thanks very much.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  We will break, then, until 1:45.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:20 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:52 p.m.

MS. HARE:   Please be seated.

Preliminary Matters:


MR. SMITH:  Perhaps just two matters before we continue, the first being, yes, we will provide the information in confidence as to the counterparties to the assignments.


So we'll need an undertaking for that, Mr. Millar.


MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. SMITH:  And the second is, I believe, Ms. Evers has a response to Member Sommerville's question.


MR. MILLAR:  I will just mark the undertaking first.  It is going to be filed in confidence, Mr. Smith?


MR. SMITH:  Yes, it will be.


MR. MILLAR:  Ordinarily we give that an X designation; JX.4.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. JX4.3:  TO PROVIDE INFORMATION IN CONFIDENCE AS TO COUNTERPARTIES TO ASSIGNMENTS.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.


MS. HARE:  And then we will deal with submissions as to whether it should be in confidence or not.


MR. SMITH:  Yes.  I suppose that that, in the normal course, would happen when we file the undertaking.


MS. HARE:  Yes, of course.  After you file it and we look at it.


MR. SMITH:  Yes.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.


Ms. Evers, then, you had a reply to Mr. Sommerville?


MS. EVERS:  I do, thank you.


Ratepayers are not impacted by any costs that would be incurred as a result of an assignment, and that includes LBA charges, as well.  To the extent that there are LBA charges that that are driven as a result of the assignment, those would be charged back to S&T.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MS. HARE:  So with that, we turn to Mr. Millar.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


And good afternoon, panel.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.


I have a number of high-level questions to begin with, so I hope you will bear with me for some of this.


This, of course, is the gas supply panel and we've heard a lot about the gas supply plan, but can you confirm for me -- or correct me if I'm mistaken -- who actually creates the gas supply plan?  Is that you folks, or is that somebody else?


MR. QUIGLEY:  That would be our group.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you determine how much gas is needed at the various delivery points?


MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Do you determine the path by which the gas gets there?


MR. QUIGLEY:  We would model the paths that we have contracted for transportation on, and then determine whether that was sufficient to meet the needs.  And then we may -- if we had more requirement for supply than we had contracted paths, we may go out and contract on other paths to bring gas in.


MR. MILLAR:  But that's your group that does that?


MR. QUIGLEY:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  You're the one who decides which path the gas should flow from, to get from A to B?


MR. QUIGLEY:  Our group, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Just quickly, I wanted to follow up on a point I heard, and this may already be on the evidence, but I wanted to make sure this was clear.


There was some discussion about how you plan for design days; is that correct?


MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  A design day will normally be more than you use on any given day; is that fair?


MR. QUIGLEY:  Exactly.  That is the peak demand we would see.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So do you plan for every day to be design day?


MR. QUIGLEY:  No.


MR. MILLAR:  Maybe you could help me with that.  I heard you say you plan for design day.


MR. QUIGLEY:  We have to hold enough capacity, have enough supply in order to meet a design day within a given winter.  So it could be a one-day event, it could be a multiple-day event, but it's not an everyday event, a design day.


That's -- like in the north, you're talking about one-in-50-year type event as a design day event.


MR. MILLAR:  So you don't plan for every day being a design day?


MR. QUIGLEY:  No.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that.  Could I ask you to turn to your guiding principles, as you presented them in your prefiled evidence?  I think it is at D1, tab 1, page 2.  You also discussed them yesterday -- or, pardon me, on Friday in your examination-in-chief from Mr. Smith.


Again, that's Exhibit D1, tab 1, and page 2 of that.


MR. SHORTS:  We have that.


MR. MILLAR:  I'll just let it get pulled up on the screen in case people are watching along.


Why don't I just begin if we have it in front of us?


You will see starting at line 9, you state:

"The gas supply planning process is guided by a set of principles that are intended to ensure the customers receive secure, diverse gas supply at a prudently incurred cost.  These principles are..."


Then you go on and list five of them there.


But when I was looking through this, it seemed to me that none of those principles include cost.


Can you help me out with that?


MR. SHORTS:  If you read the overall guiding statement, the overall guiding statement basically says "at a prudently incurred cost," so that's what all of this is intended to provide us.


MR. MILLAR:  Well, it says "secure, diverse" and then "cost" would be the three words I take from the statement before you get into the actual --


MR. SHORTS:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And I see that security and diversity are handled by 1 through 5.


I don't see any specific reference to cost there.


MR. SHORTS:  Well, again, cost is trying to find that reasonable balance between what the security and reliability will provide us, and the flexibility.


But we don't have cost specifically noted there.  It is one of the overriding principles.


MR. MILLAR:  Do you have any normal type of cost-benefit -- when you -- I'm talk transportation right now, transmission, but I suppose it would be the same for commodity supply, but let's just look at transportation.


You would have a couple of options in many cases to get gas from A to B; is that fair enough?


MS. HODGSON:  Yes, we do.


MR. MILLAR:  And you would assess the two options, in my theoretical by looking at these five criteria; is that correct?


MS. HODGSON:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And how does cost feed into that?


MS. HODGSON:  There's an analysis that we file when we take on a new path, or extend -- renew -- let me start over again.


When we take on a new path, or we extend the term of an existing path, we file an analysis –- a "landed cost analysis" is what it's referred to -- and that came out of -- I'm trying to think of the rate case.  It was either 2003 or 2005.


Was it 2005?  Thank you.


Where that was agreed upon.  And that landed cost takes into account the supply, the cost of the supply, the path itself included demand -- including the demand cost and the commodity cost, as well as fuel implications for that path.


MR. MILLAR:  So is that a type of cost-benefit analysis?


MS. HODGSON:  It's referred to as a landed cost analysis, and it takes all the paths that were considered in comparison and looks at those.  So you can see each path, what the landed costs would have been to bring that supply to Union's system.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  That's something you prepare internally?


MS. HODGSON:  We file it with the Board.


MR. MILLAR:  Ah.  Every time you do a new -- when do you file it with the Board?


MS. HODGSON:  In the deferral disposition, and that's whenever a path is new or the term is extended.


MR. MILLAR:  I take it there wouldn't be any examples of these filed in this application?  But they would be filed with the Board elsewhere --


MS. HODGSON:  There is not in this application, but there is in the deferral disposition.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.


Now, again with respect to these principles, do you have -- do you undertake exactly the same analysis whether you are planning for the northern territory or the southern?


MS. HODGSON:  Yes, we do.


MR. MILLAR:  So your analysis would be identical?  Not the results, but --


MS. HODGSON:  The results would not be identical, but the analysis itself would be, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  It seems to me -- and there may be a reason for this, but is it fair to say that in the north you tend to use more long-term firm contracting, for the northern territory?


MS. HODGSON:  There's more limited options in the north, simply because a lot of our customers are captive to TCPL in the north, whereas in the south we tend to have more options.


MR. MILLAR:  In the south you do a lot more short-term; is that fair?


MS. HODGSON:  No difference in terms of the timing of the contracts, just the paths that are available.


MR. MILLAR:  I would like to go to some examples, perhaps, of how cost is considered in your contracting practices.


Could I ask you to turn to D1, tab 1, page 13?  There's a passage here about the Alliance/Vector transportation contract.


Do you see that?


MS. HODGSON:  I have it.


MR. MILLAR:  And I understand that Alliance/Vector at some time in the past was an affiliate of Union, but that's no longer the case; is that correct?


MS. HODGSON:  I believe that to be correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And this contract that you are discussing here, I believe it was originally negotiated perhaps in the late '90s, but it began about 2000; is that correct?  When the pipeline opened?


MS. HODGSON:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And there was an option to terminate the contract for 2015 if you gave notice in 2010; is that right?


MS. HODGSON:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And you did give notice in 2010?


MS. HODGSON:  We did.


MR. MILLAR:  Had you not, that contract would have continued to run until 2025?


MS. HODGSON:  I believe that to be true, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Or close to that?


MS. HODGSON:  Some future, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And I understand that at least for the American portion of that pipeline, there were certain penalties associated with that cancellation; is that correct?

MS. HODGSON:  Yes, there were.

MR. MILLAR:  These were for accelerated depreciation?

MS. HODGSON:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And you're paying those penalties now?

MS. HODGSON:  Yes, we are.

MR. MILLAR:  From 2010 to 2015?

MS. HODGSON:  I believe that to be true, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Are you able to tell us how much these penalties run?

MS. HODGSON:  I don't have them with me.  They are posted on their website each year.  It is a formula-driven -- when the pipeline was originally approved, it's a formula-driven rate and there was a formula-driven depreciation.  So I think I could tell you what it was for years that have gone by, but years going forward, I don't know that that's available quite yet.  I believe it is just as the year begins.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Could I ask, by way of undertaking, that you provide the amounts already incurred, and then -- again, without having seen this, I don't know if you will be able to determine this.

Is it a similar amount each year?  In other words, is there any way we can get even a ballpark figure for the years 2013, 2014, 2015?  Would it be in line with the other years or do we just not know that?

MS. HODGSON:  I believe the formula -- I would have to check.

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe you could provide what you can in that undertaking response in that regard.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.

MR. MILLAR:  That is J4.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J4.4:  TO PROVIDE PENALTIES ALREADY INCURRED FOR TERMINATED ALLIANCE/VECTOR TRANSPORTATION CONTRACT AND PROJECTIONS FOR 2013-2015.

MR. MILLAR:  And obviously ultimately ratepayers will pay these penalties; is that fair?

MS. HODGSON:  Yes, it is.

MR. MILLAR:  In determining -- I note that in your prefiled, the last sentence in that section at line 16 says:
"Union elected not to extend the term of the contract for economic reasons."

What do you mean by that?

MS. HODGSON:  That goes back to the landed cost analysis.  So when you take the cost of the supply at that location, at the CREC, the place where you buy the supply, and add on the transportation path that you would have to pay to bring that gas to Union, it was far more expensive than other choices.

MR. MILLAR:  So it was cheaper to cancel the contract even while incurring the penalties?

MS. HODGSON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So I take it, then, that in order to do that calculation, you must have known what the total amount of the penalties would be?

MS. HODGSON:  It's a very small percentage.

MR. MILLAR:  So is that a yes or a no?  Maybe that will -- I guess we'll see when J4.4 comes in.

MS. HODGSON:  Yes.  There would have been an estimated quantity of dollars you would have to use the formula.

MR. MILLAR:  But you would have had a number for that?  You would have had to input a number into --


MS. HODGSON:  We would have had to input a number; that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And that would have been filed with the Board?

MS. HODGSON:  No.  When you -- because it's only incremental transportation.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you for that.

MS. TAYLOR:  Sorry, just to be clear before we move on, so you filed -- when we discontinue a path within the portfolio, there's no analysis about what that discontinuation would do in terms of the other costs in the path, to the extent that they are related, is that correct, in the portfolio?

MS. HODGSON:  They wouldn't be related.

MS. TAYLOR:  Well, so if you've got transportation on TransCanada, which is tolled in a certain way --


MS. HODGSON:  Yes.

MS. TAYLOR:  -- and you are decontracting within the portfolio for certain deliveries, you do not do an analysis on the cost of the remaining contracts along TransCanada; is that fair?  So if you discontinue a delivery area to the south and it results in higher tolls across various different delivery areas that are still within your system, you would not do that analysis at the time you are decontracting; is that right?

MS. HODGSON:  We do the analysis on -- sorry, can we start again?  Can you start -- ask the question again?  My apologies.

MS. TAYLOR:  Certainly.  So you don't do analysis, at the time a path is discontinued, about whether or not the discontinuation of a path has a potentially adverse effect on the remaining portfolio transportation costs.  And I am assuming, based on what you said up to this point, the answer is, no, you don't do that analysis?

MR. SHORTS:  That's correct.

MS. TAYLOR:  Okay, thank you.

MS. HARE:  I'm sorry.  So just to make it clear, your answer that you don't do the analysis is consistent with what you told us the other day.

But is what you saying, you did the analysis when you discontinued the service on Alliance/Vector?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, it's two different analyses.

MS. HARE:  I understand that, but, I'm sorry, correct me.  Correct me, because this is what I understood you to say, so I ask you to correct my understanding.

You didn't do the analysis on discontinuing on TransCanada, but you did the analysis on Alliance/Vector path?

MR. SHORTS:  We would do an analysis when we discontinued a path as to what the other path options were, and that's part of the landed cost option.

We don't do an analysis on what those costs might end up doing to the remaining shippers on those pipelines.  So we did not do an analysis that said Alliance's remaining shippers are going to see an X percent increase because we have not renewed our contract for the term 2015 and beyond.

MS. HARE:  But when you discontinued Alliance/Vector, you did an analysis on what that means in terms of your other options?

MR. SHORTS:  We looked at -- when we looked at the Alliance/Vector decision, we looked at our other options to get gas into the same area that we wanted to get the gas to, and there were much more economic paths to take than the Alliance/Vector path.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Ms. Taylor has --


MS. TAYLOR:  I have one more question, because Alliance is a contract path and it is not a cost of service, per se.  And decontracted amounts on Alliance, as far as I understand it, would have to be recontracted by the pipeline, meaning that they're at their own risk, in a sense, for turnback.  That is not necessarily the way that all pipelines are contracted.

So to the extent that there is an effect on your own customers within different delivery areas, I want to be sure that where a pipeline is a cost of service with the rolled in tolling methodology, and decontracting to one delivery area changes tolls in the other, I want to be perfectly clear that you do not do that analysis even as it relates to your own customers; is that correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Just to be clear, we can't, for one, know exactly what that result will be, because there are other factors that are going to be impacting it.

The decisions we make on that pipe may only be one small portion of decisions others are making on it.  So we don't really know -- for example, we may be contracting ten units on a pipe, but someone else may be recontracting those ten units.  So the pipe -- so the actual rate wouldn't change.

So we wouldn't know going into that analysis whether or not the remaining customers' rates would change.

MS. TAYLOR:  So just one last question, because there is considerable information in the market that your trading group would have, and you would not -- and, of course, there's very obvious trends out in the transportation market over the last two to three years, if not longer, about the average contract profile on TransCanada.

So you wouldn't marry any of the data and expertise that is in your other group as it relates to your analysis to do this cost benefit?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, certainly not on a short-term basis.  Again, considering the fact that we don't -- we look at the long term.  We don't look at sort of the existing market conditions at the time, but we would certainly look in totality and say, If we decontracted on a certain pipeline and that caused entire systems rates to go up to an extent which was not ideal -- in other words, it did not outweigh any other of the benefits that we might have seen from decontracting that, because one of the issues on Alliance/Vector isn't just economic.

We were also having liquidity issues.  We didn't have as many producers that were bidding in for our supply requests each month.  So because of that, we also chose not to recontract that route.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Back to you, Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

I will move to a separate but perhaps related area.  I wanted to follow up briefly on a conversation you enjoyed on Friday with Mr. Cameron, I believe it was, and Mr. Thompson followed up on this.  This is in relation to the Bluewater and St. Clair lines.

Mr. Cameron referred to these companies several times as affiliates of Union.  This may in fact be a question for your counsel, but do you happen to know if they meet the definition of an affiliate in the Affiliate Relationships Code, which I believe just adopts the definition from the Ontario Business Corporations Act?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  They are affiliates, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So they're proper affiliates?

MR. SMITH:  Yes to that legally, is the answer to that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you for that, Mr. Smith.  I apologize for the short notice.  I gave my friend very quick notice over lunch.  I do have some copies of sections of the ARC for gas utilities that I would like to hand out, just a couple of provisions.

Madam Chair, I would propose to call that Exhibit K4.1.  These are extracts from the Affiliate Relationships Code for gas.
EXHIBIT NO. K4.1:  EXTRACTS FROM THE AFFILIATE RELATIONSHIPS CODE FOR GAS.

MR. MILLAR:  Witness panel, you probably don't have that, do you?  Unless Mr. Smith was able to...

Before I get to some questions on the ARC, I reviewed the transcript with Mr. Cameron.

I understand that no one on this panel knows how the price is set for the Bluewater and St. Clair lines; is that correct?  Like, the affiliate sets whatever the toll is?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, as I had mentioned, we had agreed to a toll, and those tolls had originally been agreed to through negotiation.  They then became part of a tariff rate over the years.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.

MR. SHORTS:  And we had felt that those, the benefits we were getting and the services, were certainly in line with the rates that we were paying over the years.

MR. MILLAR:  You don't know how the toll was set, though?  I guess it was set in a negotiation.

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  But you're negotiating with yourself, are you not?

MR. SHORTS:  We would be negotiating, looking upon the benefits that having that path available to us would provide.

So whether it was us or a third party, we would certainly look at whether or not the value of that path and the costs we were paying benefit -- was actually in line with what we wanted to pay.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, you would, but if it was a third party the negotiation would be different, wouldn't it?  You wouldn't just say -- just for the sake of example -- we can afford to pay $5 for X service.  You would get it for cheaper than five if you could, right?  It would be a negotiation back and forth.  You wouldn't tell them how much you can pay and them have them charge it?

You would try to negotiate the best price possible?

MR. SHORTS:  Certainly.  I mean, it would certainly depend on the negotiations as to whether or not you were at that point in time telling a pipeline that had other options that you were going to pay a certain amount and they didn't have any other options.

That could be a situation.

MR. MILLAR:  Is this a service you could get from another provider, for either Bluewater or St. Clair?

MR. SHORTS:  For these two paths, on those paths there are no other providers.

MR. MILLAR:  So you couldn't get gas from A to B except through those routes?

MR. SHORTS:  Oh, no.  We can get gas from various places in Michigan into Dawn.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.

MR. SHORTS:  At the time at St. Clair, we really didn't have many options.  That was, I believe, the original reason why the St. Clair line was built.

Then the interconnectivity between Michigan storage and Dawn is why we've been able to also contract for the Bluewater, and the benefits that provides.

MR. MILLAR:  This isn't an area I understand with perfect clarity, but whatever service you get from Bluewater and St. Clair, could you get that service from a third-party provider?

Is this a competitive service, in other words?  Or do you have to use one or two or both of these to get what you need?

MR. SHORTS:  It really depends on what we're trying to get.

If we're trying to get gas out of a specific storage area that's connected to the Bluewater, then we'd obviously have to use the Bluewater path.

If we had competitive options on another pipeline, we could use that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So perhaps sometimes some of the services are competitive, some of them aren't; would that be a fair way to put it?

MR. SHORTS:  I think right now what we have seen here is we have used that pipeline for various reasons, mostly S&T activity over the years, but we have, from a gas supply perspective, used that path to provide security and reliability, as well as -- right now we're having it -- we're having a certain amount of supply come through on that St. Clair path.

MR. MILLAR:  Are you familiar with the Affiliate Relationships Code?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So could I take you -- I have just copied some extracts from this, but on page 9 of the document, which is page 2 of the document I sent out to you, you will see a "where a market exists," 2.3.4?

Do you see that?  Towards the bottom of the page, section 2.3.4?

MR. SHORTS:  I see that, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  It says:

"Where a reasonably competitive market exists for a service, product, resource, or use of asset, a utility shall pay no more than the market price when acquiring that service..."

Et cetera.
"...from an affiliate."

How do you ensure that you are paying a market price and no more for this service?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, as we have looked at this service, the fact that over the 20 years or 10 years, depending on which contract, the fact that those rates have been quite low and steady in a time of rising rates for some of our other options, we certainly felt that was good value.

And from a market perspective, as Ms. Hodgson mentioned, we do the landed cost analysis, as well, that helps us to ensure that that's a competitive and reasonably incurred cost and service.

MR. MILLAR:  So you've looked at -- at least for some of these services -- you have looked at using competitors or a third party to provide that service?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, we certainly move gas across Vector.  We move gas across Panhandle, Ojibway.

And we contract for gas deliveries through Great Lakes Gas Transmission into Dawn, as well.

MR. MILLAR:  So what leads you to use the Bluewater/St. Clair service when you use it?  Is it because it is cheaper than those options?

MR. SHORTS:  Many cases, they are linked to a storage and transportation activity or transaction that would then provide benefit back to the ratepayers, because that revenue would either be part of the forecast and be part of base, or potentially work its way into earnings sharing because it is all part of regulated earnings.

MR. MILLAR:  Let's flip to the next page of the ARC.  I am looking now at section 2.3.10, and this governs situations where no market exists.

Do you see that?

MR. SHORTS:  I see that, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  It states:
"Where it can be established that a reasonably competitive market does not exist for a service, product, resource or use of asset that a utility acquires from an affiliate, the utility shall pay no more than the affiliate's fully allocated cost to provide that service, product, resource or use of asset."

Which can include cost of capital, et cetera.

How do you ensure that that provision of the ARC is followed?

I understand you don't actually know exactly how they set their -- how they set the toll.

MR. SHORTS:  I would say that to the extent that
the -- I am going to use the Bluewater as an example.  To the extent that we had a fixed rate for a number of years that was covered under -- or that was recovering, from my understanding, a leased cost, and that's –- sorry, not "least," leased with an "E-D" on the end.

Then upon renewal of that contract, they are proposing to invest four or five million dollars in actual pipe, that keeping the rate constant, we certainly were very happy about the fact that that rate would stay constant at its low level.

MR. MILLAR:  You don't know what the fully allocated cost of that --


MR. SHORTS:  I don't know what the fully allocated cost would be.

MR. MILLAR:  And would -- is that something Mr. Isherwood would know, or another panel?  Or is that outside the knowledge of...

MR. SHORTS:  At this point, I'm not sure who would be the person who that question would go to.

MR. MILLAR:  The answer --


MR. SHORTS:  It might be Ms. Elliott in relation to that, but I'm not 100 percent sure.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Smith, do you have any information in that regard?  Is this the panel that this question goes to?

MR. SMITH:  Well, they've indicated they don't know the fully allocated cost of Bluewater and St. Clair.

So I think, well, we have two options, another panel or an undertaking, and I'm indifferent as to which.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, I will put it as an undertaking.  I guess what I would like to know is, if someone at Union on the regulated side of the business -- in other words, the non-affiliate -- actually knows what the fully allocated costs are to provide the service provided by St. Clair and Bluewater, and if so, if it can be confirmed that that is what they're paying.

MR. SMITH:  Well, I know that Jim Redford will know the answer, for sure.  Jim Redford will be on the Parkway West panel.

So I guess I just --


MR. MILLAR:  Would you prefer I ask him?

MR. SMITH:  Well, I don't -- it doesn't matter to me.  I mean, we can either wait or we will prepare an undertaking and you can ask Mr. Redford when he comes along.

MS. HARE:  He's with the regulated utility?  He's with Union Gas Distribution?

MR. SMITH:  Union Gas, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe I would ask that you take the undertaking and then we can ask -- Mr. Redford, was it?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.  Jim Redford.

MR. MILLAR:  So that is Undertaking J4.5.

MR. SMITH:  Yes.
UNDERTAKING NO. J4.5:  TO PROVIDE FULLY ALLOCATED COSTS FOR ST. CLAIR AND BLUEWATER SERVICES.

MR. MILLAR:  I think I am almost done, but just let me consult my notes.

Thank you, panel.  Those are my questions.

MS. HARE:  Board Member Taylor has a question.
Questions by the Board:

MS. TAYLOR:  Sorry, just one last question on the gas supply model.

So given that you don't do any what I would call market surveillance or seem to lever off the market understanding in your trading group about what the tolls are likely to do on other paths in a period beyond the current year -- if I've paraphrased the position correctly -- does that mean that, in the gas supply model, that you flat-line the cost of your existing transportation paths over the  period of the model, because you've got no information; is that correct?  And that means on the paths where the existing contracts are not otherwise changed over that five-year plan.

MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct.  For the paths where we have a contracted rate that would cover the entire length of the contract, we'd use that for paths such as TCPL.

We use the approved rate that is in effect at the time we do the plan.

MS. TAYLOR:  Then when you roll the plan forward, because I am assuming --


MR. QUIGLEY:  Or the next year, we would like at what the approved rate was for that path at that time.  So if the rate has changed over that time, then we would update the plan for that rate for that toll.

MS. TAYLOR:  I am just trying to get a grip on what role cost plays in any of this.  If there is no forecasting of different path costs and the contracting profile on each of the different paths is potentially different, and then waiting until the contract year to input the number into the model, it will change the total portfolio cost quite significantly, but be affected by your own actions; is that correct?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct.  The analysis would be done at the time the decision was made to enter into the contract.  That's the landed cost, that analysis that Ms. Hodgson was --


MS. TAYLOR:  Only incremental, and it does not appear that you are doing any sort of analysis when you terminate a path, which I think we established in the last discussion.

So that's really what I am trying to get at.  Your own contracting activities affect the value of the portfolio overall, on a cost basis, but you don't seem to be internalizing that exercise; is that correct?

MS. HODGSON:  When we look at the incremental analysis, that can be over -- that can be a five-year decision, that can be a one-year decision, that could be -- so if we contract -- so, for example, right now we have -- some of our contracted path goes out to 2017, and that is filed in the deferral disposition that we file every time we take on a new path.

And so that is when we do our landed cost analysis and we look at the eligible transportation paths that would then be included in our portfolio.  So those are the types of things that the plan would then take as givens, when you're looking at it.

So we -- so we do look out at the market.  When we have our transportation contracts in the US, for example, those are often a fixed toll, and they stay the same over a period of time.

So I think what gets flat-lined are the ones where the toll is perhaps uncertain in the future or is eligible to change.  We use what is approved or existing.

MS. TAYLOR:  Okay, thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Smith, do you have re-direct for the panel?
Re-Examination by Mr. Smith:

MR. SMITH:  I do, just a few questions.

You were asked a question about -- by Mr. Millar and earlier by Mr. Cameron in relation to St. Clair, and you referred, Ms. Hodgson, to your landed cost analysis.

And I recognize that that may be filed in your deferral account proceeding, but if you have Exhibit B7.7 from EB-2012-0087, which was part of the package of material given to you by Mr. Quinn -- actually, it is also in Mr. Thompson's compendium, and maybe I can ask you to turn to page 92 of his compendium, and that's K3.3.

MS. HODGSON:  I have it.

MR. SMITH:  Do you have page 92?

MS. HODGSON:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  What are we looking at on page 92?

MS. HODGSON:  This is a landed cost analysis that we have been referencing.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And if we look over at the fourth line from the right-hand side, what do we see there?

MS. HODGSON:  That is the landed cost and it's -- the way that the table is organized is from the least expensive landed cost to the most expensive landed cost of the analysis.

MR. SMITH:  Where do we see, or do we see, St. Clair reflected in this analysis?

MS. HODGSON:  It is -- it starts -- it is one, two, three, four -- the fifth one down.  It starts:  Panhandle field zone, MichCon and St. Clair.

What that indicates is the path that we've brought supply home or to Union Gas on.

MR. SMITH:  And how do the costs of the St. Clair line compare to other available alternatives you have in that area?

MS. HODGSON:  So when we do this analysis, what we do is look at the paths and the landed cost, and then we look at the most economic, and we also consider all of our principles.

So at the very top you'll see Dawn, and we always include that as a reference.

MR. SMITH:  Is that -- sorry, when you say Dawn, what does Dawn refer to there?

MS. HODGSON:  That is just the Dawn market price or the price that you would buy supply if you simply bought it at Dawn and didn't transport it at all, but we include that always as a reference.

The next one down is Vector, and it's in brackets, 2011, and we actually did take a portion of that into our portfolio, so we purchased that path.

The next one is Vector 2008, and that's one that we already have in our portfolio, and then the next one down is Trunkline and Panhandle.  That unfortunately was unavailable to be purchased.  They were sold out on the Panhandle portion of that path, and then the next one is the Panhandle fields on MichCon-St. Clair, which we also purchased and put into our portfolio.

If you continue down further, we also include, you will see, TCPL to the SWDA, and that is the long haul from Empress to Dawn, essentially.

Dawn is within the SWDA, and that was a more expensive path.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Then if we look over at the second column from the right, what is reflected under the heading "Planned percentage of Supply Portfolio"?

MS. HODGSON:  That is just the percentage of our supply that would be purchased at the receipt point or the beginning of that particular path.

MR. SMITH:  If you stick with Mr. Thompson's compendium and move to page 16, this is Exhibit JT1.6, and I recognize this was not prepared by you, but you were taken to it in cross-examination.

Can I ask you to look at the example relating to capacity assignment?  Have you got that?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Yes, we do.

MR. SMITH:  It says in the last sentence in this example:
"Prior to the capacity assignment, the gas is not required in the EDA and would have been transported to Dawn for storage using TCPL STS service."

Under the gas supply plan, where was gas needed?

MR. QUIGLEY:  This example would have been in the summertime.  So the gas would have been transported from Empress to the EDA using STS injections sent to Parkway, and then on to Dawn.

MR. SMITH:  So just simply, if I can just pick up on that, under the gas supply plan, what was the ultimate destination?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Dawn.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  In connection with a discussion about -- or several discussions about Exhibit J.C-4-7-10 -- or 4-10-7, one or the other -- you talked to Mr. Quigley about, and Mr. Shorts about buying gas for peak day.

Why don't you buy gas for an average day as opposed to a peak day?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Sorry?

MR. SMITH:  Why don't you buy gas for an average day as opposed to a peak day?

MR. QUIGLEY:  We do buy gas for an average day.

MR. SMITH:  And you commented earlier, then, about the need to have gas to supply a peak day.  What did you mean by that?

MR. QUIGLEY:  We need to have the ability to move molecules into those delivery areas on a peak day.

We have a portfolio of assets that we use to do that.  We use long haul transport, TCPL.  We would use TCPL STS withdrawals.  We would use short-haul transport from TCPL, and, in some delivery areas, divergence from TCPL long haul.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  The panel is excused with our thanks.

Mr. Smith, are you able to introduce your next panel?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, I am able to introduce them, I hope.  Yes.  If I can ask Mr. Broeders, Mr. Fichtner, Mr. Canniff, Dr. Vander Weide and Mr. Fetter to come forward, please?

So if I could just ask that they be sworn.
UNION GAS LIMITED - PANEL 3

Michael Broeders, Sworn


Darrin Canniff, Sworn


Steven Fetter, Sworn


Chip Fichtner, Sworn


James Vander Weide, Sworn

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Smith


MR. SMITH:  And we have from the right, Mr. Chip Fichtner, Mr. Michael Broeders, Mr. Darrin Canniff, Dr. Jim Vander Weide, and Mr. Stephen Mr. Fetter.  Mr. Fichtner, maybe I can start with you.

I understand that you are employed by Spectra Energy Corp.?

MR. FICHTNER:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And I understand that you currently hold the position of director, corporate finance?

MR. FICHTNER:  That's right.

MR. SMITH:  And that is a position that you have held since 2007?

MR. FICHTNER:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And prior to that, you held the position of credit risk management director?

MR. FICHTNER:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And that was a position you held from 2003 through 2007?

MR. FICHTNER:  That's right.

MR. SMITH:  And prior to that, you held another position in risk management, as corporate risk management director?

MR. FICHTNER:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you have held, is it fair to say, sir, various finance-related positions of increasing responsibility at Spectra from about 1991?

MR. FICHTNER:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  I understand that you are a graduate of Texas A&M University?

MR. FICHTNER:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And graduated with a degree in business administration and accounting in 1991?

MR. FICHTNER:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  I understand that you are a certified public accountant?

MR. FICHTNER:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And hold a certificate of risk management in energy from Rice University?

MR. FICHTNER:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And this is your first appearance before the Board?

MR. FICHTNER:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Returning to your current position, sir, what is it that you are responsible for as the director of corporate finance?

MR. FICHTNER:  Our group is responsible for basically all of the capital markets activity of Spectra Energy Corp and all of its subsidiaries.  So debt and equity needs, we raise capital for the various subsidiaries and joint ventures that Spectra Energy is involved in.

MR. SMITH:  And does that include responsibilities for debt and equity offerings by Union Gas?  Although there are no equity, but offerings by Union Gas?

MR. FICHTNER:  Yes.  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And were you responsible or did you assist in the preparation of Union's cost of capital evidence in the E binder?

MR. FICHTNER:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt that evidence for the purposes of testifying here before this Board?

MR. FICHTNER:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And equally, were you involved or did you assist in the preparation of answers to interrogatories in relation to that evidence?

MR. FICHTNER:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt that evidence for the purposes of testifying here today?

MR. FICHTNER:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Broeders, I understand that you are the manager of financial planning and forecasting for Union Gas Limited?

MR. BROEDERS:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And that is a position you have held since 2009?

MR. BROEDERS:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And prior to that, from 2004 through 2009, you were the manager of product and services costing?

MR. BROEDERS:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And prior to that, you held various accounting or finance-related roles of increasing responsibility from and after 1996?

MR. BROEDERS:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  I understand that you are a chartered accountant?

MR. BROEDERS:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And obtained that designation in 1995?

MR. BROEDERS:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  You have a bachelor of math from the University of Waterloo?

MR. BROEDERS:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you are a member of the CICA, as well as the ICAO; is that correct?

MR. BROEDERS:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you have testified before this Board on a handful of separate occasions?

MR. BROEDERS:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And now can you just, please, tell the Board, as the manager of financial planning and forecasting, your area of responsibility?

MR. BROEDERS:  My group is responsible for bringing together the separate components of the income statement balance sheet cash flow, so we will work with groups for revenue, O&M, capital, bring that together, prepare the financial statements on a forecast basis.

We'll take a look at the cash flow and the debt requirements that we may have.  Work with Houston, my counterpart or my colleague here, Chip, Mr. Fichtner, to determine the appropriate timing and the approximate level of the debt that may be coming.

MR. SMITH:  And did you assist or were you responsible for the preparation of the evidence in relation to cost of capital?

MR. BROEDERS:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt that evidence for the purposes of testifying here today?

MR. BROEDERS:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  Equally, with respect to the answers to interrogatories, did you assist or were you responsible for the preparation of that evidence?

MR. BROEDERS:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt those answers for the purposes of testifying here today?

MR. BROEDERS:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Canniff, I understand that you are the director of planning and forecasting?

MR. CANNIFF:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And that's a new position for you, in 2012?

MR. CANNIFF:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And prior to that, you held a position as director of strategic development?

MR. CANNIFF:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And before that, various positions with Union Gas from and after 1994?

MR. CANNIFF:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And before that, you were employed by KPMG?

MR. CANNIFF:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And I understand that you too are a chartered accountant?

MR. CANNIFF:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  As well as a certified public accountant in the state of Illinois?

MR. CANNIFF:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  I understand that you have a bachelor of business administration from Wilfrid Laurier University?

MR. CANNIFF:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  You are a member of the ICAO and the CICA?

MR. CANNIFF:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And I understand this to be your first time testifying before the Board?

MR. CANNIFF:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And can you please tell me your responsibility as the director of planning and forecasting?

MR. CANNIFF:  I oversee the budget and forecasting process, which Michael, or Mr. Broeders, just explained, as well as looking over the financial analysis, which is the economic justification of projects.

MR. SMITH:  And did you -- were you responsible or did you assist in the preparation of Union's cost of capital evidence?

MR. CANNIFF:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt that for the purposes of testifying here today?

MR. CANNIFF:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And equally, with respect to the answers to interrogatories, do you adopt those for the purposes of testifying here today?

MR. CANNIFF:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Now, Mr. Vander Weide -- or Dr. Vander Weide, I understand that you are a full professor of finance at Duke University?

DR VANDER WEIDE:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SMITH:  You're somewhat louder than some of the other people.  You caught me.

[Laughter]


You needn't apologize.  It usually comes to me, that comment.

Were you asked by Union Gas to prepare an opinion on Union's cost of equity having regard to an equity ratio of 40 percent?

DR VANDER WEIDE:  Yes.  I was asked to -- I was asked to assess the reasonableness of the company's request to earn the formula ROE on an equity ratio of 40 percent.

MR. SMITH:  And did that require an opinion or an assessment by you of the reasonableness of Union's request in relation to the appropriate equity ratio?

DR VANDER WEIDE:  Yes, it did.

MR. SMITH:  And were you able to reach an opinion as to that question?

DR. VANDER WEIDE:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And are your conclusions set out in the report at Exhibit F2?

DR. VANDER WEIDE:  Yes, they are.

MR. SMITH:  If I can ask you -- well, perhaps before we do that, do you adopt your report for the purposes of testifying here today?

DR. VANDER WEIDE:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And any answers to interrogatories given in relation to that report?

DR. VANDER WEIDE:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  If I could ask you to turn to your report, sir, at page 54, I believe you have set out your curriculum vitae.

DR. VANDER WEIDE:  Yes, that's right.

MR. SMITH:  So in addition to being a research professor of finance and economics at Duke University, I understand that you are also the founder and president of Financial Strategy Associates?

DR. VANDER WEIDE:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you have been, first, an assistant, subsequently an associate, and then a full professor of finance at Duke University?

DR. VANDER WEIDE:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And am I correct that you have a Ph.D. in finance from Northwestern University?

DR. VANDER WEIDE:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And a bachelor of arts in economics from Cornell University?

DR. VANDER WEIDE:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And at page 55, am I correct that you have authored articles and other -- and -- articles in various economic- and finance-related journals, all as set out at page 55?

DR. VANDER WEIDE:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And these include articles in Financial Management, International Journal of Industrial Organization, the Journal of Finance, the Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis, among others?

DR. VANDER WEIDE:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And am I correct, sir, that you have testified on over roughly 400 separate occasions in relation to finance matters?

DR. VANDER WEIDE:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And have you ever failed to be qualified as an expert in financial theory?

DR. VANDER WEIDE:  No, I have not.

MR. SMITH:  Are your appearances laid out in your -- or a summary of your expert testimony laid out beginning at page 62 of your report?

DR. VANDER WEIDE:  Yes, they are.

MR. SMITH:  And I should ask you, of the many times you have testified, has that included instances in relation to equity thickness?

DR. VANDER WEIDE:  Yes.  I've testified on equity thickness and cost of capital many times.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you, sir.  Members of the Board, I would ask that Dr. Vander Weide be accepted by this Board for the purposes of providing expert finance opinion in relation to Union's deemed capital structure as set out in his report.

MS. HARE:  Do any of the parties have any objection to Dr. Vander Weide being accepted as an expert?

Thank you.


MR. SMITH:  We will return to your -- a few brief questions for you, Dr. Vander Weide, in a moment.

But if I could ask you, Mr. Fetter, to turn up Exhibit E2, I understand that you are the president of Regulation Unfettered?

MR. FETTER:  Yes, I am.

MR. SMITH:  And were you asked by Union Gas to opine as to the appropriate deemed equity thickness to be approved by this Board for Union Gas?

MR. FETTER:  Yes, I was.

MR. SMITH:  Were you able to reach an opinion in response to that question, sir?

MR. FETTER:  Yes, I did.

MR. SMITH:  And is that opinion set out in your report at Exhibit E2?

MR. FETTER:  Yes, it is.

MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt that report and that evidence for the purposes of testifying today before this Board?

MR. FETTER:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And, equally, do you adopt the answers to undertakings given in relation to that report?

MR. FETTER:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Now, I gather your curriculum vitae, sir, is attached at appendix A?

MR. FETTER:  Yes, it is.

MR. SMITH:  I understand that you are a graduate of the University of Michigan law school?

MR. FETTER:  Yes, I am.

MR. SMITH:  And that following graduation, you worked as majority general counsel to the Michigan State Senate; correct?

MR. FETTER:  I did.

MR. SMITH:  You then acted as assistant legal counsel to the governor of Michigan?

MR. FETTER:  That actually came before the senate counsel job.

MR. SMITH:  You also acted as deputy undersecretary of labour; is that correct?

MR. FETTER:  Acting.

MR. SMITH:  And I further understand that you were first a member and subsequently chairman, and then reappointed chairman, of the Michigan Public Service Commission; is that correct?

MR. FETTER:  Yes, I was.

MR. SMITH:  And what is the role of the Michigan Public Service Commission?

MR. FETTER:  The Michigan Public Service Commission regulates electric, natural gas, telecommunications and motor carrier activities within the State of Michigan.

It would be very similar to this Board, except for the jurisdiction.

MR. SMITH:  And in your job as, first, a member, and subsequently two terms as the chairman, were you involved in the setting of capital structures for Michigan-based utilities?

MR. FETTER:  That was part and parcel of the job.  Any time we did a rate case, we would set a capital structure.

MR. SMITH:  Now, I gather from your curriculum vitae, sir, that thereafter you joined Fitch; is that correct?

MR. FETTER:  Fitch Ratings, yes.

MR. SMITH:  First, when did that occur?

MR. FETTER:  That started in October of 1993.

MR. SMITH:  And what is Fitch Ratings?

MR. FETTER:  At that time, it was one of the four major ratings agencies in the world.  It later merged with Duff & Phelps and became one of the three, along with S&P and Moody's.

MR. SMITH:  And what was your role at Fitch, sir?

MR. FETTER:  I was hired in 1993 to be a regulatory analyst and to assist in the setting of bond ratings by giving my views on issues of regulation, politics, and those types of issues.  Over time, my responsibilities grew in that job.

MR. SMITH:  And how so, sir?

MR. FETTER:  About halfway through my eight-and-a-half year tenure, I was promoted to be group manager managing the day-to-day operations of the Fitch utility ratings group, and about a year or two after that I became managing director of the utility ratings group, including the old Duff & Phelps.

So I was managing 18 individuals responsible for utility credit ratings in New York and Chicago.

MR. SMITH:  And can you just help us, sir?  How is it that Fitch goes about setting a rating?

MR. FETTER:  Fitch, as I understand every bond rating agency, convenes a rating committee to analyze and deliberate over the proper credit rating or bond rating, and it is done through a committee process using anywhere from four to 12 members of the ratings team to deliberate what the appropriate rating should be.

MR. SMITH:  And what impact, if any, did capital structure have in assessing rating?

MR. FETTER:  It would enter into the discussion of most utility ratings.  There might be times when a particular discrete issue was the subject of discussion, but, on a normal basis, capital structure would be one of the items discussed and analyzed.

MR. SMITH:  And after you -- sorry, I ought to have asked you this earlier, but in your capacity as chairman of the Michigan Public Service Commission, what impact, if any, did rating agencies have on your capital structure decisions?

MR. FETTER:  The commissioners and staff would travel to New York to meet with utility analysts and credit rating agencies to discuss the important issues and any factors going on within regulation in Michigan that might affect the utility credit ratings within our state.

That said, when we reviewed record evidence in the course of a rate case or other proceeding, the potential impact on a utility's credit rating would enter into our discussion and analysis.

MR. SMITH:  I understand, sir, in 2002 you formed Regulation Unfettered; is that correct?

MR. FETTER:  I did.

MR. SMITH:  What is the business of that company?

MR. FETTER:  I formed an energy advisory firm to assist stakeholders within the utility field in their interaction with regulators or the courts or legislators, and I've done that now for a little over ten years.

MR. SMITH:  And do I understand, sir, beginning at page 25, you set out there a number of matters in which you have testified and offered expert opinion evidence; is that correct?

MR. FETTER:  Yes.  I have participated in approximately 85 proceedings during the ten-and-a-half years.

MR. SMITH:  And how many of those would be rate cases?

MR. FETTER:  I'd say probably about two-thirds of these would be pretty much traditional rate cases.

MR. SMITH:  And would those include cases in which you were providing evidence in relation to capital structure?


MR. FETTER:  Yes.  That would be cases where I would comment on the capital structure under consideration.


MR. SMITH:  Have you ever failed to be qualified, sir?


MR. FETTER:  No, sir.


MR. SMITH:  I would ask that Dr. -- sorry, that Mr. Fetter be accepted by this Board for the purposes of providing expert opinion evidence on the appropriate capital structure for Union Gas in this matter.


MS. HARE:  Do any of the parties have an issue with accepting Mr. Fetter as an expert?


Thank you.


MR. SMITH:  Maybe we can just do this in a bit of reverse order, and I will be brief.


But Mr. Fetter, what is your opinion as to the appropriate capital structure for Union Gas?


MR. FETTER:  As a result of my analysis, I recommend within my evidence that a reasonable range for equity thickness for Union Gas in this proceeding would be 40 to 42 percent.


MR. SMITH:  And how is it, sir, at a high level, because -- how is it, sir, that you arrive at your conclusion?


MR. FETTER:  I considered the authorized levels, not only within this jurisdiction but across Canada, to look for comparability, since I view Union Gas as in the mainstream of regulated utilities within the country.


And then I also considered United States levels of authorized equity, which are actually quite higher.


I felt a fair accommodation of those two analyses would be to set a reasonable range between 40 and 42 percent.


MR. SMITH:  And Dr. Vander Weide, what is your opinion, sir?


DR VANDER WEIDE:  My opinion is that the -- an equity ratio 40 percent is reasonable, if not conservative.


MR. SMITH:  And can I ask you to turn to your -- if you still have it there -- your opinion at F2?


And just briefly, I am going to ask you about how you arrived at your conclusion.


If I could ask you to turn to page 7, sir?


DR VANDER WEIDE:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  Under the heading "Comparable risk, utilities," I would ask you:  How, if at all, is your discussion of comparability relevant to the issue of capital structure?


DR VANDER WEIDE:  Well, my discussion is very relevant to the issue of capital structure, because normally, comparable risk utilities would have similar capital structures.


They would be similar in regard to both business risk and financial risk, or at least a combination of those two.


And so the -- by assessing the risk of those comparable risk utilities and looking at their capital structures, both their allowed capital structures and their actual market capital structures, I am also assessing the reasonableness of a 40 percent equity ratio for Union Gas.


MR. SMITH:  Can I ask you to turn over the page, beginning at page 9?  Can I ask you -- when you mean "risk" what aspects of risk are you looking at?


DR VANDER WEIDE:  I'm looking at both business and financial risk, and --


MR. SMITH:  And -- I'm sorry, go ahead.


DR VANDER WEIDE:  And I define "business risk" as the variability and return that a company would face, even if it did not have any debt or leverage in its capital structure.


And financial risk is the additional risk that a company incurs when it has debt in its capital structure.


MR. SMITH:  Now, in your report, you refer to both Canadian and US utilities.  How do you assess the risk of Canadian utilities relative to US utilities?


DR VANDER WEIDE:  I examined both the Canadian and US utilities, and in my opinion, the risks are similar to each other.  The Canadian and US utilities face similar risks.


MR. SMITH:  And why do you say that, sir?


DR VANDER WEIDE:  Well, one, I've testified in both Canadian and US jurisdictions and feel I understand the risks faced by utilities in both Canadian and US jurisdictions.


I also read analyst reports and credit rating reports on a frequent basis.  I have examined -- I understand and examine the various costs adjustment mechanisms that US and -- utilities have on average.


And I understand their capital structures, which are an element in their financial risk, and have evidence -- presented evidence on their capital structures.


So I believe that the average risk of my comparable companies is equal to -- is similar to the risk of Union Gas.


MR. SMITH:  Have you had an opportunity to review Dr. Booth's evidence, sir?


DR VANDER WEIDE:  Yes, I have.


MR. SMITH:  And do you agree with his comments with respect to the comparability of US utilities?


DR VANDER WEIDE:  No.  Dr. Booth has the opinion that US utilities are very much riskier than Canadian utilities and should not be used for comparison purposes.


I believe that Dr. Booth's evidence is out of date.


US utilities in the 1990s were involved more in deregulated and competitive markets, but there's been a tremendous change in the composition of the markets that US utilities are involved in, in the 2000s, and in their capital structures and bond ratings and with regard to their various other risk measures.


US utilities on average now have between 85 and 95 percent of their assets devoted to regulated services.  They are viewed as having comparable business risks, either excellent or strong business risk positions.  And their equity ratios have increased very significantly over the last 10 or 15 years, and they have also succeeded in obtaining much stronger cost adjustment mechanisms and revenue adjustment mechanisms that reduce the variability of their operating incomes.


MR. SMITH:  If I can just ask you -- you were asked in an interrogatory at J.E-3-12-5 -- and you needn't bring it up, but you were asked whether you had assessed the relative business risk of the companies that you considered.


And you indicated you had not.  And I ask:  What did you mean by that, sir?


DR VANDER WEIDE:  That I didn't examine –- well, I meant that I didn't examine the risks, the relative risks of the companies in the group.  That is, I didn't rank-order the companies, but I, instead, sought to ascertain that Union Gas was similar in risk to the average utility in the group, and hence that the utilities in the group would be -- would provide useful information for assessing Union's capital structure.


MR. SMITH:  In your view, was it necessary to provide a rank-ordering of those in order to arrive at an opinion?


DR VANDER WEIDE:  No, it was not.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you, members of the panel.  Those are my questions in examination-in-chief.


I would tender the panel for cross-examination.


MS. HARE:  Okay.  I think we will take our break prior to cross-examination.


I assume an order has been established, and perhaps Mr. Millar can tell me what that order is during the break.


Okay.  So we will take a 15-minute break until 3:15.


--- Recess taken at 3:03 p.m.


--- On resuming at 3:25 p.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.  I understand, Mr. Thompson, you're going first with cross-examination?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson:

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, I am, Madam Chair.  I have a relatively brief examination, and Mr. Janigan has much more detail.

Mr. Broeders, I will direct all of my questions to you, because they derive from the prefiled evidence that you have filed.  And in that connection, you have filed Exhibit E1, tab 1 and F1, tab 1.

I would like to take you first, if I might, to Exhibit F1, tab 1, page 1 at line 15.

MR. BROEDERS:  Sorry, what line number was that?

MR. THOMPSON:  Line 15.

MR. BROEDERS:  Okay.  F1, tab 1, page 1?

MR. THOMPSON:  F1, tab 1, page 1 of 5, yes, line 15.

MR. BROEDERS:  I have that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Here you say:
"Union is proposing that the ROE for the 2013 test year be established using the formula as determined in the 'Report of the Board on the Cost of Capital for Ontario's Regulated Utilities' dated December 11, 2009 (EB-2009-0084).  The Board's findings in the Report maintain a formulaic approach to setting ROE levels. However, the formula (originally established in the Board's 'Draft Guidelines on a Formula-Based Return on Common Equity for Regulated Utilities' released in March 1997) was reset primarily to address relatively low ROE levels as well as to reduce its sensitivity to changes in government bond yields."


That's what you say in your testimony?

MR. BROEDERS:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  So am I correct that Union is seeking a return on equity in accordance with the Board's report?

MR. BROEDERS:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, am I also correct that Union is not requesting any review or reversal of any of the components of that report?

MR. BROEDERS:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, the methodology reflected in the report -- I am suggesting to you the methodology reflected in the report is the method where decisions regarding the cost of equity and capital structure are made separately.  Do you agree that that is the methodology reflected in the report?

MR. BROEDERS:  I believe so, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  And am I correct that Union is not relying on any method, other than the methodology set out in the report, to support its request for an increase in its common equity ratio from 36 percent to 40 percent?

MR. BROEDERS:  There is not a methodology within that report to indicate how you calculate a proper equity structure.

MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, that wasn't my question.

Are you relying on a methodology other than what's specified in that report?

MR. BROEDERS:  There isn't a methodology specified in that report.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, let's follow up on that, then, if we might.

The report -- do you have the copy of the report there with you?

MR. BROEDERS:  I don't think I have a copy with me, no.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, I think the portion of the report that I want to refer to is part of Mr. Aiken's initial compendium.  I think it's K1.1.  I don't have that in front of me, but it's the -- the portion is --


MR. BROEDERS:  Sorry, there was a compendium by Mr. Aiken?

MR. THOMPSON:  Aiken, yes.  Exhibit K1.1, I believe.

MR. BROEDERS:  Oh.

MR. THOMPSON:  If you go --


MR. BROEDERS:  I might have that.  Sorry.  Just a second.

MR. THOMPSON:  If you go in towards the middle of it, I can't remember the page number, but --


MR. BROEDERS:  I believe Mr. Janigan has supplied a copy of the complete report, so you can take me to the page.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So if you go to page 49 of the report, the initial part of the report deals with the ROE formula, and then in this section of the report starting at page 49, we see the provisions with respect to capital structure.  Do you see that?

MR. BROEDERS:  Starting at 4.3, the section entitled "Capital Structure"?

MR. THOMPSON:  Capital structure at 49.

MR. BROEDERS:  Yes.  Section 4.3?

MR. THOMPSON:  Correct.

MS. HARE:  So just to be clear on the transcript, of the compendium that would be page 12 of 16.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

So when you were saying earlier there is nothing in the report with respect to the Board's policy with respect to capital structure, did you mean that in the context of this section that appears in this report?

MR. BROEDERS:  I wasn't stating that there wasn't a policy.  I was stating there was not a methodology.  This is the policy.  I agreed with that.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right, fine.  So maybe I have used the wrong word.

In any event, the Board's policy with respect to capital structure is set out at pages 49 and 50 of this report; fair?

MR. BROEDERS:  Yes.  Sorry, I was just rereading it again.

MR. THOMPSON:  Fine.  And there is nothing in Union's evidence that I can find challenging that policy?

MR. BROEDERS:  No, we are not challenging that policy.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So there is no mystery about the Board's current policy.  It starts at the bottom of page 49, where the Board says:
"The Board's current policy is as follows..."

And then in the two bullet points that appear on page 50, the first one deals with electricity distributors.  Is that fair?

MR. BROEDERS:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the Board has determined that a split of 60 percent debt and 40 percent equity is appropriate for all electricity distributors.  That's what the report says?

MR. BROEDERS:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And Union Gas is not an electricity distributor?

MR. BROEDERS:  That is also correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Fine.  Then the second bullet point deals with electricity transmitters, generators and gas utilities.  Is that fair?

MR. BROEDERS:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the policy says, "For electricity" -- well, let's just confine it to gas utilities:
"... the deemed capital structure is determined on a case-by-case basis."

Then it goes on:
"The Board's draft guidelines assume that the base capital structure will remain relatively constant over time and that a full reassessment of a gas utility's capital structure will only be undertaken in the event of significant changes in the company's business and/or financial risk."

That's what it says?

MR. BROEDERS:  That's what it says.

MR. THOMPSON:  And it is pretty clearly stated and straightforward, is it not?  No mystery there?

MR. BROEDERS:  No, there is not.

MR. THOMPSON:  So you were asked -- the company was asked in -- if I can find it, it is JT1.55 -- well, let me just back up.

In terms of that statement of policy, does Union accept that the reassessment of risk should be from the last point when the Board evaluated risk to the present?

MR. BROEDERS:  That is what the Board is saying in their policy.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  And you were asked in Exhibit JT1.55 whether Union accepts that its financial and business risk have either remain unchanged or have declined -- I think it should say "have not declined" -- since last analyzed by Dr. Carpenter of the Brattle Group.

The response was Union has not analyzed its business and financial risks.  Is that correct?

MR. BROEDERS:  Sorry, just give me a minute.

The answer to the undertaking is saying that we have not analyzed our business and financial risk, but we accept that its overall risk profile has not materially changed since 2004.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So whatever you have asked the experts to do, you did not ask them to analyze whether Union's -- there have been any significant changes in the company's business and/or financial risks since 2007.  They were not asked to do that?

MR. BROEDERS:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And Union accepts that its overall risk profile is not materially changed since -- from 2004.  You don't take it to 2007 only.  You go back to 2004.

You accept that your overall risk profile has not materially changed; is that correct?

MR. BROEDERS:  That's correct.  We have submitted evidence based on the comparables and we believe that the risk, as we submitted in 2004, which has not materially changed to this day, is not commensurate with the equity percentage that we have.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So I suggest to you it is the end of the story.  You cannot discharge the requirements of the Board's current policy with respect to capital structure for gas utilities.

There is no evidence to support a conclusion that your risks have significantly declined.

MR. SMITH:  Well, Mr. Thompson can certainly make that argument at the end of the day, and we will have a different position.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, the company has just admitted there is no significant change in risks.  What is the argument going to be based on?

MR. SMITH:  Well, why don't we wait until August 2nd?

MS. HARE:  I think what Mr. Smith is saying is to see if there are any other questions that you have.

MR. THOMPSON:  Those are my questions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you very much.

Mr. Janigan?  We haven't seen you for a while in the hearing.

MR. WARREN:  Watch it.

MR. JANIGAN:  Don't expect me to be as technologically proficient as Mr. Buonaguro.

MS. HARE:  Nobody is.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Janigan

MR. JANIGAN:  That's a hard act to follow.

All right.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I have a compendium of materials that I have distributed, VECC cross-examination materials.  I will give anyone advice, don't try to assemble one from double-sided copy to begin with.  The duplicating machine was able to get off the tear stains, but it was a hard process.

[Laughter]


MR. MILLAR:  Panel, do you have a copy of that?  It is Exhibit K4.2.  It is the VECC cross-examination materials.

EXHIBIT NO. K4.2:  VECC CROSS-EXAMINATION MATERIALS.

MR. JANIGAN:  Panel, do you have copies of that as well?  That compendium?

MR. BROEDERS:  We do.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I would like to start off with Mr. Broeders, and I would like to take you to page 4 of my compendium.  And it is in your Exhibit E1, tab 1, page 4 of your evidence, concerning the assessment of business risk.

MR. BROEDERS:  I have that.

MR. JANIGAN:  And you note here that:

"Business risks lead to variations in operating income.  The risk is the probability that the return to the company will fall short of the expected return."

Now, I wonder if you could then turn up on page 6 of my compendium, which is an answer to an interrogatory, an answer to interrogatory B herein, and it's -- request information that:

"Please discuss in detail the reason for any material shortfall in the weather-normalized ROE as compared to that allowed since 2000.  Please define what the company regards as material."

And the answer here is that
"There have been no years where the weather-normalized ROE was below allowed."

It would appear, given your explanation of business risk, that on a weather-normalized basis Union has so far never experienced any harm arising from such a risk.

MR. BROEDERS:  On an actual basis, not since 2000.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, have you -- do you have any reason to believe that the long history of earning the allowed ROE is about to change?

MR. BROEDERS:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  And what reason would that be?

MR. BROEDERS:  Based on our forecast and submission.

MR. JANIGAN:  Forecast of what?

MR. BROEDERS:  Our submission.

MR. JANIGAN:  Your submission?

MR. BROEDERS:  With the deficiency of 56.6 million.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And that forecast and the deficiency forecast is the reason why, if it is not -- if it is not made up in terms of rates, you will fail to meet your ROE?

Presumably if you were successful in this application, you will be meeting -- you have every expectation of meeting your ROE next year; is that correct?

MR. BROEDERS:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, at one time Union had a 29 percent common ratio.  Do you recall that?

You might not be able to recall it.

[Laughter]


MR. BROEDERS:  I don't recall it, but I've seen the records.

MR. JANIGAN:  And did Union earn its allowed ROE at that time, as far as you know?

MR. BROEDERS:  There was an IR response that had the - showed the record of the common equity level and the ROEs, weather-normalized, as well.  I am just trying to recall it.

MR. JANIGAN:  Perhaps if you could turn up page 7, which sets out Dr. Booth -- in Dr. Booth's testimony on page 24 of his evidence, a graph that is the 21-year history.

MR. BROEDERS:  Yes.  That's our representation of it.  The IR response I was looking for is J.E-2-12-9.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  There is a note right above the chart.  It seems to show that Union typically over-earns its ROE by significant amounts; is that correct?

MR. BROEDERS:  Some years it was significant, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  And why does Union only over-earn its allowed ROE, rather than under-earn in some years?

MR. BROEDERS:  I don't know the reasons for all of the years.

MR. JANIGAN:  And would you say that a utility that consistently over-earns its allowed ROE is risky?

MR. BROEDERS:  It could be.

MR. JANIGAN:  It could be?

MR. BROEDERS:  Yes.  Utilities face risks.  This would show us that we've been fairly effective in managing some of that risk, but there are risks in prior years, as there are coming, and the... yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, in terms of business risk -- back to your explanation -- it is basically the risk it is not going to earn its return.  As far as that kind of risk goes, it doesn't look to be too risky, given the previous evidence.

MR. BROEDERS:  Past performance is not always indicative of future performance.

MR. JANIGAN:  No, but it is a pretty good indication most of time, though; wouldn't you agree?

MR. BROEDERS:  It is something that has to be considered.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, on page 25, if you flip over the page to page 8 of my compendium, Dr. Booth's testimony reports the data --


MR. BROEDERS:  Sorry, can I confirm I have the right page?

MR. JANIGAN:  Sure.

MR. BROEDERS:  Is it the "Nova Scotia Power Inc. issues 200 million"?

MR. JANIGAN:  No.  If you look at my compendium, page 8.

MR. BROEDERS:  Oh, page 8?  I thought you said 25.

MR. JANIGAN:  I will stop referring to the testimony.

MR. BROEDERS:  Okay.  I have that.

MR. JANIGAN:  And page 8, and Dr. Booth takes the material from the Interrogatory J.E-3-5-1 sets it out in a format that shows that from 2007 to 2012, while under settlement, Union over-earned by 288.7 million.

And in terms of that being shared with the customers, the amount shared with the customers is about 21.2 percent of the total.  Would you take that subject to check?

MR. BROEDERS:  Some of the numbers are incorrect or the totals are incorrect, but the numbers themselves look appropriate.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. BROEDERS:  And certainly the scale that you are referring to.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Was there an incorrect transposition of the numbers from J.E -- from the interrogatory, or was the interrogatory incorrect?

MR. BROEDERS:  When I add up the total number, it is 278.7 instead of 288.7.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  But the difference between the two is more or less what was indicated?

MR. BROEDERS:  Yes, the scale is certainly close.

MR. JANIGAN:  All right.  It would appear that under settlement and under performance-based regulation, the utility doesn't appear to be getting any riskier.  Would you agree with that?

MR. BROEDERS:  2012 is starting to dip.

MR. JANIGAN:  Starting to dip in 2012?

MR. BROEDERS:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Up until that point in time, you would agree with me under settlement Union has done pretty well?

MR. BROEDERS:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.

Now, on page 9, Dr. Booth has also included material from other utilities under settlement, under PBR.

It would appear to also show that Gaz Métro has been consistently over-earning while under PBR.  Do you agree with that?

MR. BROEDERS:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  And, as well, we have included a graph from Mainline.  That seems to show a similar kind of pattern?

MR. BROEDERS:  On the next page?

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes, TransCanada Mainline?

MR. BROEDERS:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  So in the instances of all three of these utilities, PBR did not seem to represent a significant risk to earning their allowed rate of return so far?

MR. BROEDERS:  I would say that the risks were there, but the businesses certainly were able to manage those risks.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, I want to take you to Dr. Carpenter's evidence, and I am missing a page in my compendium of his evidence, which is page 3.

Well, it is more or less for them to -- -I have the page for them to refer to.  If you turn over my page 1, and then if you can turn up page 3 of his evidence on the screen, then I can deal with this question.

His 2006 evidence listed five major changes that he thought were important and contributed to Union's increased risk in 2006.

Have you looked to see how these changes have panned out over the last six years?

MR. CANNIFF:  Yes, we reviewed the evidence and looked at them.

MR. JANIGAN:  Let me take you through them.  First is in relation to the risk that Dr. Carpenter identifies on page 1 of my compendium, that:
"Union Gas's distribution services have increased because they are now exposed to additional uncertainty due to changes in the commodity market for natural gas.  The commodity market has changed markedly since the pre-1998 days, and Union and its customers are now facing extremely high and volatile prices that are beginning to be reflected in declining gas usage per customer and increasing customer elasticity of demand."

So if we turn up on page 12 of my compendium, this was the kind of situation that Dr. Carpenter was confronted with back in 2005.  You can see, just before he filed his testimony, that gas prices had reached a level of $9.00 US per gigajoule, and the forward-looking prices were $9.00 to $12.00 a gigajoule.

Do you see that?

MR. CANNIFF:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  And then Dr. Carpenter went on to compare what is happening with residential and commercial and industrial rates.  If you look on page 13 and 14 of my compendium, you will notice that he notes that after 1998, on page 13, that the average residential rate M2 monthly bill was 82.32 -- .33 cents which was a 43 percent increase.

And he tracks similar trends through the commercial rates that are contained on pages 14 and 15.  Do you see that?

MR. CANNIFF:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  So if we look at what was in place at that time in terms of the volatility and the rates of -- the increases to the price of natural gas, and look to the current circumstance, there is quite a bit of -- quite a different situation presents itself at this point in time.  Would you not agree?

MR. CANNIFF:  There is a change, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  And there's been a remarkable decrease in the price of natural gas.  Would you agree?

MR. CANNIFF:  There has been a change, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  And as I understand it, these figures are from 2005, and in 2005 I believe the Canadian dollar had yet to make its precipitous climb to near equality.  Am I correct on that?

MR. CANNIFF:  I'm not sure of the exact timing of the change in the dollar.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  My understanding, it was 83 cents at that time.  Would you take that subject to check?

MR. CANNIFF:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  And if that was the case, then the drop in gas prices has even been greater from a Canadian standpoint; correct?

MR. CANNIFF:  Yes.  The exchange would amplify it.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, I wonder if I could take you to the pages 16 and 17 of my compendium where there are cost comparisons, and particularly on page 17.

In 2005 natural gas was at $13.92, the Canadian price.  Fuel oil was at $7.50.  Ontario heating oil was at $20.09, and Ontario electricity on the RPP plan was at $26.51.

Do you see that?

MR. CANNIFF:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, if we roll forward to 2011, we find that the fears expressed by Dr. Carpenter in 2006 have, by and large, been diminished or disappeared, and natural gas has now a huge competitive advantage over its competing fuels.  Would you not agree?

MR. CANNIFF:  Yes.  The price has come down from 2005 to 2011, so it certainly doesn't hurt.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And I take it that when you're in a situation where you are offering a product that is so competitively priced, this is a positive factor affecting your business and your business risk.  Would you agree with that?

MR. CANNIFF:  Sorry, I'm just looking at something here.

Yes.  Based on the current price, based on the current outlook, certainly those outlooks can change.  As we saw back in 2005, the price went up, back to down, and sometime in the future it can go up again.  So there is volatility long term and volatility with weather in the shorter term.

MR. JANIGAN:  But in terms of the outlook at this point in time, with natural gas being as competitively priced, the business risks associated with Union Gas must be substantially less, given the price difference?

MR. CANNIFF:  Well, the business risk associated with that particular risk is lower, yes.

But you can't look at any one risk and automatically assume that it impacts the overall risk of the company.  You have to look at the overall package.


MR. JANIGAN:  Natural gas prices, though, are a very pretty substantial part of that, are they not?

MR. CANNIFF:  I'm not qualified to say how substantial that is.  When you use the word "substantial" I -- it has a degree of meaning I don't know.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Well, do you have any view whether this will continue, whether natural gas will revert to $20, for example, or have the same price of oil?

MR. CANNIFF:  The general market would say it's going to be lower, but we don't know.

MR. JANIGAN:  Isn't that the sort of thing that a business expert is supposed to comment on?  No?  Business risk expert?  No?

Never mind.

Why is there a disconnect between -- such a great distance between the energy value of oil and natural gas now as compared to 2005?

MR. CANNIFF:  Sorry, can you repeat the question?

MR. JANIGAN:  There seems to be a greater disconnect or difference between the energy value of oil and natural gas now than existed in 2005.

What's the reason for that?

MR. CANNIFF:  I believe the reason is from the supply of natural gas in North America.

MR. JANIGAN:  Shale gas?

MR. CANNIFF:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  What's -- Mr. Broeders, what is your view on the Marcellus and Pennsylvania natural gas?  And its impact on Union?

MR. BROEDERS:  The shale gas is certainly changing the North American market.  So the -- there's excess supply there, which has put downward pressure on the price of gas.

MR. JANIGAN:  Do you expect some of that 8 BCF a day of new production relative to 2005 to find its way to Ontario?

MR. BROEDERS:  I don't know.  That is not my area of expertise.

MR. JANIGAN:  Whose transportation system will be used to bring that gas into Ontario?

MR. BROEDERS:  Coming from the east, TransCanada system will help Dawn-Trafalgar, as well, if that gas comes to Dawn.

MR. JANIGAN:  Is that going to make Dawn hub more or less important as a contracting centre?

MR. BROEDERS:  I don't know if the markets are shifting towards Dawn or not.  That's probably Mr. Isherwood's realm of expertise.

MR. JANIGAN:  So you don't know whether or not it is good or bad for Union?

MR. BROEDERS:  Overall, I don't know.  I know it is something that is a risk facing the company, trying to figure out what that is going to do.

One problem is that Marcellus is already to the east.  Gas has historically gone from west to east.  Gas that's at the east already doesn't have to go west.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Let me deal quickly with some of the issues that Dr. Carpenter raised in 2005.

Dr. Carpenter was worried about bypass at that time.  We haven't received any -- or haven't seen any references to bypass risk in this application.  So I guess that is no longer significant; would I be correct on that?

MR. CANNIFF:  Yes.  We haven't experienced any bypass since 2007.  However, it still remains a risk going forward.

MR. JANIGAN:  But it wasn't so significant that you commented on it anywhere in the evidence; correct?

MR. BROEDERS:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, Dr. Carpenter was worried about new gas-fired generation, and that it may not be built.

As I understand, there's three new plants in Union's area; is that correct?

MR. CANNIFF:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  And his final couple of risks are associated with storage, because at the time NGEIR hadn't been decided.  The Board's policy wasn't known.  That's been resolved now.

MR. CANNIFF:  Sorry, you're referring to risk number 4 that he's spoken about, or number 5?

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, both of them involve storage, as I recall.

MR. CANNIFF:  Well, storage and transmission.  It talks about both.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  But by and large, the issues associated with storage have been resolved; would you not agree?

MR. CANNIFF:  A lot of the Board decisions have been made regarding storage, correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  So with respect to Dr. Carpenter's five increased risk factors, they either
have -- are not -- have much diminished or are no longer there; would you agree with that?

MR. CANNIFF:  I would like to go back to just a couple of them.

The gas-fired generation, part of what he said in his evidence was not only are they going to happen, but the timing of them.  And certainly we don't know the timing of some of the plants coming forward, so that is certainly a risk going forward.  Nanticoke being the largest one we don't know about.

And as far as the storage and transmission, as we have documented in the evidence, we have had a significant amount of turnback on Dawn-Trafalgar, which is certainly a risk now and going forward.

MR. JANIGAN:  So still some lingering elements of what --


MR. CANNIFF:  Certainly there is a lot of lingering risk with all of these.

MR. JANIGAN:  All right.  Now, in terms of your business risk discussion, Mr. Broeders, you discuss weather risk, consumption risk, lower interest rates and cost escalation risk.

With respect to weather risk, why has Union never come forward with a weather deferral account, if it is such a big risk?

MR. BROEDERS:  I don't know.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Let's go to consumption risk, then.

In terms of consumption risk, average use has declined due to the use of higher efficiency furnaces and other kinds of conservation techniques; correct?

MR. BROEDERS:  Consumption has decreased because of high efficiency, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  But this is not a new risk.  That's been something that's been going on for the last two decades; would you not agree?

MR. BROEDERS:  I don't think when we're talking about consumption risk, it is the risk of people going to high-efficiency furnaces.  It just overall risk for usage.

So just because they go -- whether they have a low-efficiency, medium-efficiency or high-efficiency, we still don't know what usage they're actually going to have related to that.

So the consumption risk is whether they're going to use it, period.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  But I take it with natural gas being as competitive as it is now, the consumption risk, that part of consumption risk, must be substantially lowered?

MR. BROEDERS:  I don't know how it affects the usage patterns for people.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

In terms of low-interest risk, you indicate that low interest rates can cause the ROE to drop.  Do you recall?

MR. BROEDERS:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  But in 2009 the ROE changed from 75 percent of the change in forecast long Canada bond yields to the new formula, where it now changes by 50 percent; is that correct?

MR. BROEDERS:  That's correct, as well as there's a 50 percent component related to the utility bond spread.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  Given that fact, the risk has undoubtedly decreased since 2005 and 1998, wouldn't you say?

MR. BROEDERS:  The risk of interest rate changes, or at least to the extent that interest rates are changing, there is a less -- there's a lower impact to the ROE, but the risk is still there that there will be change.

The Board set the rate at 9.75 as part of the proceeding, or at least as part of the base.  Right now we're seeing it below 9.1.

MR. JANIGAN:  But Union's risk with respect to interest changes obviously has been reduced by the fact that it would only result in a 50 percent change rather than a 75 percent change?

MR. BROEDERS:  The impact of change is certainly reduced.  The risk is still there.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, the cost escalation risk, I'm not quite certain if I understand this.

Is this related to the risk that Union will not be able to forecast its expenditures correctly?  Is that effectively...

MR. BROEDERS:  There's always a level of inaccuracy towards estimating costs.  So there is an element of inaccuracy, and that is the risk we're at, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  All right.  In this low inflation environment, would you suggest that there is a lesser risk of that occurring than existed, for example, in 1998?

MR. BROEDERS:  I'm not sure.  I know pension costs are still a very significant item.  That's something that is changing.

Based on the interest rates, that is not necessarily tied to inflation; it's a major component of our costs.

MR. JANIGAN:  Apart from pension, though.  But most other elements of Union's expenditures which are subject to inflationary pressures, I assume that given a low inflation environment, it is a lot easier to forecast than it is in a higher inflation environment?

MR. BROEDERS:  We hope our forecasts are accurate as a result of smaller numbers to work with.

MR. JANIGAN:  Would you agree with me that your forecasting risk -- the size of your forecasting risk shows up in Union's ability to earn its allowed ROE?

MR. BROEDERS:  No.

MR. JANIGAN:  No?  You don't think the fact you have been able to earn your allowed ROE year after year, that has some bearing or some meaning associated with the forecasting that you have been doing?

MR. BROEDERS:  I'm sorry, I thought you were specific to costs.

The cost component has been increasing, as we've seen in some of the other interrogatories.  Most of the excess has been based on revenue.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Rather than accuracy in forecasting?

MR. BROEDERS:  And the costs.  Sorry, are you -- are you talking about revenue forecasting now?

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. BROEDERS:  Sorry.

MR. JANIGAN:  I'm talking about your ability to earn the ROE.  I assume that some component on that is that you have to make an accurate forecast of what your costs are going to be.

The proof of whether or not you have been accurate over the years is the fact that you have been earning the allowed ROE for every year for the last 21 years?

MR. BROEDERS:  I'm not sure about the conclusion about the 21 years or not.  But, again, you are going back to an estimate of costs, and I think our costs, they have been going up, if anything, as opposed to revenues.

So, yes, there is -- forecasts are inaccurate by their very nature.  If I could forecast very accurately, I would be in another business.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.  Mr. Fetter, on page 1 of your testimony, which is set out on page 18 of my compendium --


MR. FETTER:  Yes, sir.

MR. JANIGAN:  -- you note that:
"... with OEB support for an enhanced equity thickness within the range of 40 to 42%, Union Gas' financial profile would improve, ultimately benefiting its customers through the Company's enhanced ability to attract capital from investors when needed and upon reasonable terms."


MR. FETTER:  That's what I said.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, would you accept that Union Gas is planning to issue a long-term debt at a cost of 3.9 percent, and that is deductible for income tax purposes?  So the after-tax cost is a bit less than 3 percent?  We're using a 27 percent tax rate there.

MR. FETTER:  So you are asking me if I will accept that statement?

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. FETTER:  Subject to check, I will accept it.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And would you also accept that Union is asking for a 9.58 percent allowed ROE using the Board's ROE formula?

MR. FETTER:  I believe that's what was in Dr. Vander Weide's testimony, but I believe that the ROE figure was settled at a different level.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  Well, let's take the initial -- the figure from the initial application, because I don't want to recalculate it right now.  Would you accept --


[Laughter]

MR. JANIGAN:  -- for the purpose of this exercise that the ROE that was requested was 9.58?

MR. FETTER:  I will accept that that is what appeared in Dr. Vander Weide's testimony -- evidence.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, in this circumstance, if -- every dollar you move from debt at an after-tax cost of 3 percent to equity at 9.58 percent means that the revenue requirement paid by ratepayers increases by about 6.6 percent?  Would you agree with that?

MR. FETTER:  For that component.

MR. JANIGAN:  And if you look on page 19 of my compendium, which is the table 1, the cost of capital summary, this increase in common equity will increase the revenue requirement by $19 million in 2013.  Do you agree with that?

MR. FETTER:  In which year?

MR. JANIGAN:  In 2013.

MR. BROEDERS:  Sorry, what number are you trying to get confirmation on?

MR. JANIGAN:  19 million.

MR. BROEDERS:  Related to?

MR. JANIGAN:  The cost of capital in 2013, the increase in the revenue requirement.

MR. BROEDERS:  Sorry, from 36 to 40 percent?

MR. JANIGAN:  That's correct.

MR. BROEDERS:  Okay.  I believe we have that at $17 million.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. BROEDERS:  Based on a 9.58 ROE.

MR. JANIGAN:  I think when you gross it up, the 17 --


MR. BROEDERS:  The 17 is already grossed up.

MR. JANIGAN:  Is already grossed up?

MR. BROEDERS:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  That's fine.  Let's take the 17 million number.

Can you explain to me how increasing the revenue requirement by 17 million will ultimately benefit customers?

MR. FETTER:  I feel strongly that sustaining credit quality is helpful to the operation of the utility, and ultimately its customers, as compared to a weakening credit profile.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, I wonder if you could turn over to page 21?

MR. FETTER:  I'm there.

MR. JANIGAN:  And if you look at the answer to an interrogatory of Board Staff, Union indicates here in part b) of the answer that it is unlikely that going to 40 percent equity will be sufficient to result in a rating upgrade or significantly impact the cost of debt.

So if the credit quality is not going to be increased to the point where the cost of debt is going to be reduced, where are the benefits going to be reaped by the ratepayer?

MR. FETTER:  We don't live in a static world.  Credit quality can vary within a certain credit rating level, regardless of whether it leads to an upgrade or a downgrade.

I feel strongly that creating a credit profile which can withstand unforeseen events, such as we saw in 2008 and 2009 during the worldwide financial crisis, which Dr. Carpenter also did not predict -- I think it is important for every utility to be able to withstand such stress, and so even though this response to an IR states that there might not be immediate change as measured by an upgrade, it does not mean that Union Gas's credit quality has not improved and puts itself in a better stead on behalf of both its customers and its investors.

MR. JANIGAN:  But as the time rolls on, that change that you have recommended costs customers $17 million a year.  When are they going to get it back?

MR. FETTER:  They will get it back if there is a financial crisis during which they're able to finance -- have access to the financial markets on a reasonable level, and also to just have access to the capital markets.

As we saw in 2008/2009, the commercial paper markets basically closed down for everyone for a short period of time.

MR. JANIGAN:  I wonder if you could turn over the page to page 22, the interrogatory J.E-2-1-1.

The interrogatory asks:
"Please indicate all cases in the last 5 years where Union Gas has had to defer or abandon expenditures needed to provide service due to an inability to raise the necessary capital under reasonable terms and conditions."


The answer is:
"Union has not had a specific case where the Company has not been able to issue debt to finance capital investment within the last five years.  Previously, there have been situations when the Company was limited by the interest coverage test to the timing and the amount of the debt issue."


And second part of that:
"What will be the impact on Union's ability to raise capital if the Board do not approve Union's proposed rate structure?"

The answer is:
"... it will improve Union's ability to raise capital."


There's not any suggestion of some kind of detriment.

MR. FETTER:  No.  Had the company had a BBB rating when that occurred, the answers to these questions might be different, but it had a strong credit rating, so it was able to withstand the pressures put on it by the global financial crisis.

MR. JANIGAN:  Are you aware that the interest coverage ratio for Union has increased from 2.1 times in 2005 to a forecast level of 2.74 times since September 2011?

MR. FETTER:  I did not look at that.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. BROEDERS:  Just to clarify that, the 2.74 of the interest coverage ratios that you are quoting there are based on the total company, not just the regulated entity.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. BROEDERS:  The regulated entity is about 2.3 for 2011, and for 2013, I believe it is going to be below the 2.0 threshold for us to issue debt.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, Mr. Fetters --


MR. FETTER:  It's Mr. Fetter, by the way.

MR. JANIGAN:  I'm sorry, Fetter.  Your company is Unfettered?

MR. FETTER:  Regulation Unfettered.

MR. JANIGAN:  Unfettered?  Okay.  That seems like a contradiction in terms, though.

[Laughter]


MR. FETTER:  Well, a lot of people thinks it shows I view that everything should be deregulated, but I view that it says I help to explain regulation for those who are not as fully aware of how it operates.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  All right.  Well, we'll --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's what we do.

[Laughter]


MR. FETTER:  I'm trying to help you.

MS. TAYLOR:  Mr. Janigan, just before you go on, I do think it is important for the record, because they did settle on something that is different from the 958.  And I do believe they're going to use the September numbers.

So have you updated the revenue requirement that is an increase, that is attributable to the change in ROE formula?  It's not 17 million anymore, because that number is too high.

So just for the purpose of the record, do you have what that number would be now?

MR. BROEDERS:  Well, we don't have the September number, obviously.

MS. TAYLOR:  An estimate?

MR. BROEDERS:  And my apologies about the 19 million mix-up.

I thought you were referring to the 36 to 40 percent increase, which was 17 million.

The 9.58 percent, based on a 36 percent equity structure, is the $19 million figure.  If we look at June's equation, the ROE looks to be about 9.10 percent, which is a decrease to the existing -- well, I'm going to throw too many numbers out and I apologize for this.

The decrease is about 9.6 million to the deficiency.

We're basically we're splitting it in half, so it's about nine-and-a-half million.

But again, once we hit September we will have more accurate numbers.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Mr. Fetter, I wonder if I could ask you to turn up J.E -- it is on page 22 of my compendium, J.E-2-1-1.

MR. FETTER:  The one we were just looking at?

MR. JANIGAN:  I'm sorry.  This is the one on the next page, page 23.

MR. FETTER:  I'm there.

MR. JANIGAN:  And you were asked to provide any instances of a Canadian utility having serious financial problems during the financial crisis.

And you referred to the Nova Scotia Power issuing five-year notes at a 400 basis points premium over long Canadas in January of 2009.

Is that the only instance that you are aware of?

MR. FETTER:  That's the most significant one I've seen.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Do you regard that issue as indicative of serious financial problems?

MR. FETTER:  It was a situation where, clearly, a utility had to go to market when it would have preferred not to, and it paid an extreme premium because of that timing.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, the yield on those notes was 5.454 percent, with a bond rating of BBB-plus.  And Nova Scotia Power raised 50 million.

Now, given the financial crisis that took place at that time, when you have a BBB-rated utility raising 50 million in five-year notes at 5.454 percent, would you regard that as indicative of financial access problems?

MR. FETTER:  I think they paid a lot for that access.  Had they needed more money than the 50 million, I think their access would have been more limited.

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, in terms of whether or not they would have been better treated in relation to possessing a better credit rating, I wonder if you could turn to -- on page 27 of the compendium, a graph put together by Dr. Booth of spreads on AA, A and BBB bonds.

I take it in January 2009 it was right in the teeth of the financial crisis, and spreads on even AA bonds were at 400 basis points at that time; would you not agree?

MR. FETTER:  I mean, according to this chart, I'm not sure what it is reflecting as far as the terms and length of the spreads.

MR. JANIGAN:  But it appeared, at least in terms of, you know, a financial crisis such as existed in January of 2009, that, in effect, a considerably higher rating did little to mollify the market in relation to the fall spreads.

MR. FETTER:  My understanding is that not many BBB issuers went to market then, and so perhaps Nova Scotia Power might have defined the range.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, returning to the advantage of customers of increasing Union's common equity ratio, supposing the Board did give Union enough equity to change its rating and lower its borrowing costs, have you done any analysis of how long it would take to recover the annual cost of the increase in the revenue requirement, in terms of any future lower debt costs?

MR. FETTER:  I haven't done that.  And also that wouldn't capture the access benefits.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, in relation to the status of Union, would you describe Union as a mature utility, a growth or declining utility?  And would that make any difference in your analysis?

MR. FETTER:  I haven't really looked at that.

MR. JANIGAN:  And if you look at page 28 of my compendium, it has there in H a calculation of free cash flow, of Union's free cash flow, which is defined in the normal way of operating cash flow minus capital expenditures.

If you add up the free cash flow for the seven-year period, it averages out to a shortfall of about 3.5 million a year.

So that Union could pretty much fund all of its CAPEX out of its on operating cash flow and need not access the markets for new capital at all; would you agree with that?

MR. FETTER:  I mean, I would defer to the company representatives as to what their potential expenditure needs going forward would be.

MR. BROEDERS:  That's what the numbers would indicate, but that would be assuming that we take no money out of the company for dividends, which means that our equity structure would continually rise, with no return component.

MR. FICHTNER:  It also doesn't take into account refinancings of maturities.

MR. JANIGAN:  Would it take a mature utility like Union, that is not accessing the debt markets frequently, a longer or shorter time to recover the costs of increasing its common equity ratio, even supposing its future debt costs were substantially lower?

MR. FETTER:  I'm sorry, could you say that again?

MR. JANIGAN:  Would it take a mature utility like Union, that is not accessing the debt markets as frequently, a longer or shorter time to recover the costs of increasing its common equity ratio, even supposing that its future debt costs were substantially lower?

MR. FETTER:  So if you view it as a purely dollar-for-dollar comparison, then what you're saying might be right.

But as I've tried to explain in my evidence and also here today, there's more than just the dollar-for-dollar comparison when you are considering the higher equity thickness.

MS. HARE:  Excuse me, Mr. Janigan.  We are going to stop for the day in five minutes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MS. HARE:  So I don't know how much more you've got.  You can continue tomorrow, or if you only have a few minutes, we can complete today.

MR. JANIGAN:  Let me see if I can complete today, and I think that I should be able to do that.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. JANIGAN:  Hopefully.

I want to take you to page 29 of my compendium, where you were asked if you ever participated in the rating of a major privately-owned Canadian utility and the answer was no, except that you were part of a Fitch team that provided strategic advice to Ontario Hydro.  Is that correct?

MR. FETTER:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  And in answer to part e) of that question, you indicate that of 602 global power ratings, the only Canadian issuer rated is Brookfield Asset Management, and of 244 global infrastructure issuers, the only Canadian issuer Fitch rated was Empress Pipeline; is that correct?

MR. FETTER:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Are you aware that Brookfield is mainly a property management company?

MR. FETTER:  I was just listing it from the Fitch website.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.  Does Fitch charge for its ratings?

MR. FETTER:  It is a little difficult question, because I left in 2002.  At the time, we were a growing rating agency and so we had a combination of paid ratings and unpaid ratings.

I believe today it is much more of an entity only providing paid ratings, but I cannot say for sure that they do not do some unpaid ratings still.

I would expect that it would be many fewer than when I was there.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And did Empress Pipeline pay to be rated by Fitch; do you know?

MR. FETTER:  Then or now or -- you don't have to tell me, because I don't know the answer to either of those options.

[Laughter]

MS. TAYLOR:  Mr. Janigan, just to be clear for the record, at least from what I am reading, it is the Express Pipeline, not Empress.

MR. JANIGAN:  I'm sorry.

MS. TAYLOR:  That's okay.  I want to make sure we know what we're talking about.

MR. JANIGAN:  Do you have any idea why other Canadian companies have not deemed it worthwhile to be rated by Fitch?

MR. FETTER:  When I arrived at Fitch in 1993, we were 104 people in New York City.  When I left in 2002, we were 1,500 people in 42 offices around the world.  So we were a growing entity and we were not a mature company.

And so Canadian issuers found that S&P and Moody's were sufficient, and now I expect that DBRS is facing some of the same growing pains that Fitch faced during my time there.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Fetter.  That concludes my examination of this panel.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  We will resume tomorrow, then, at 9:30.

MR. SMITH:  Oh, members of the Board, I ought to just provide an update.  You had asked that we refile the settlement agreement with some changes.  It is out for some final comment, and I expect we will be in a position to give it to you shortly.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:28 p.m.
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